

## LUND UNIVERSITY

#### Novel in vivo therapeutic approaches to Escherichia coli O157:H7 infection

Tontanahal, Ashmita

2021

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA): Tontanahal, A. (2021). Novel in vivo therapeutic approaches to Escherichia coli O157:H7 infection. Lund University, Faculty of Medicine.

Total number of authors:

#### **General rights**

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study or recorder.

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

#### Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

**PO Box 117** 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

# Novel *in vivo* therapeutic approaches to *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 infection

ASHMITA TONTANAHAL DEPARTMENT OF PEDIATRICS | CLINICAL SCIENCES LUND | LUND UNIVERSITY



Faculty of Medicine Clinical Sciences Lund Department of Pediatrics

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2021:105 ISBN 978-91-8021-112-3 ISSN 1652-8220





## Novel *in vivo* therapeutic approaches to *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 infection

Ashmita Tontanahal Department of Pediatrics Clinical Science Lund



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION by due permission of the Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Sweden. To be defended at Belfragesalen, Biomedicinskt Centrum, D15. Thursday the 21<sup>st</sup> of October 2021, at 9:00 am.

Faculty opponent Carlamaria Zoja Department of Molecular Medicine, Istituto di Ricerche Farmacologiche Mario Negri Bergamo, Italy

	Document name	)N	
Department of Pediatrics Clinical Sciences Lund	Date of issue 21 <sup>st</sup> of Octobe	er 2021	
Author: Ashmita Tontanahal	Sponsoring organization		
Title and subtitle: Novel in vivo there	apeutic approaches to Escherichia coli	O157:H7 infection	
Abstract Shiga toxin (Stx), the uniq associated with gastrointestinal infec effective therapies have been deve strategies have been investigated tar was used in which mice were infect (EVs) are involved in the transport of phosphatidylserine and tissue factor	ue virulence factor released by enterce tion and in severe cases hemolytic ure eloped to control disease progression geting different aspects of EHEC pathor red with EHEC intragastrically. During i Stx from the gut to the kidney. High le have been detected in patients with EH	hemorrhagic <i>Escherichia coli</i> (EHEC), mic syndrome (HUS). Up until now, no a. In this thesis, four novel treatment bgenesis. An established mouse model EHEC infection, extracellular vesicles evels of prothrombotic EVs that expose IEC-associated HUS.	
In the first study, treatment with annexin A5 (anxA5) induced an increase in phagocytic uptake of EVs <i>in vitro</i> . Administration of anxA5 to EHEC-infected mice resulted in lower levels of circulating platelet-derived EVs and delayed disease development.			
In the second study, Stx triggered adenosine triphosphate (ATP) release from HeLa cells and similar results were obtained in a mouse model. ATP signals via purinergic receptors. Inhibition of purinergic P2X receptors with NF449 or suramin inhibited Stx-induced calcium influx and EV release. NF449 protected cells from Stx-induced toxicity and suramin decreased EV release even <i>in vivo</i> in mice.			
The third study targeted extracellular ATP by using apyrase in EHEC-infected mice. Apyrase cleaves extracellular ATP and adenosine diphosphate (ADP). Mice were injected with apyrase intraperitoneally. Treatment protected the mouse intestines from damage and delayed the onset of disease symptoms. Apyrase decreased bacterial release of Stx2 by reducing RecA involved in the SOS response and bacteriophage activation. In addition, apyrase lowered platelet aggregation when platelets were co-incubated with Stx2 and <i>E. coli</i> O157:H7 lipopolysaccharide in the presence of collagen. Thus, apyrase had a dual protective effect on both the bacterial release of toxin and host cell activation and injury.			
The fourth study focused on the effect of immunoglobulin G (IgG) on EHEC infection. Intraperitoneal administration of murine IgG to EHEC-infected mice had a clear beneficial effect on bacterial colonization, survival and intestinal and renal pathology. <i>In vitro</i> studies utilized both mouse and human IgG and showed that the Fc domain bound to the EHEC virulence factor, EspP, <i>E. coli</i> secreted serine protease. EspP is involved in bacterial adherence to the intestine, and intestinal injury during EHEC infection. It has potent enzymatic activity that was inhibited by the interaction with IgG. This indicates that the protective effects of IgG administration in EHEC-infected mice could be due to the interaction between IgG and EspP.			
In summary, this thesis investigated novel treatment strategies targeting different aspects of EHEC pathogenesis such as bacterial colonization, release of Stx from EHEC, phagocytic clearance of Stx-containing and prothrombotic EVs in the circulation and protection against the cytotoxic and prothrombotic effects of Stx using both <i>in vitro</i> and <i>in vivo</i> experimental set-ups. The results show that treatments such as anxA5, apyrase and IgG, when administered at an early stage of infection, may have therapeutic potential in EHEC infection.			
Key words: EHEC, hemolytic uremic signaling, ATP, apyrase, IgG, EspP	syndrome, Shiga toxin, extracellular v	esicles, annexin A5, purinergic	
Classification system and/or index te	rms (if any)		
Supplementary bibliographical information		Language English	
ISSN and key title 1652-8220, Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2021:105		ISBN 978-91-8021-112-3	
Recipient's notes	Number of pages 89	Price	
	Security classification	•	

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

Date 2021-09-14

## Novel *in vivo* therapeutic approaches to *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 infection

Ashmita Tontanahal



Faculty of Medicine

Department of Pediatrics Clinical Sciences Lund Lund University Sweden 2021 Ashmita Tontanahal Department of Pediatrics Clinical Sciences Lund Lund University 221 84 Lund E-mail: <u>ashmita.tontanahal@med.lu.se</u> Phone: +46 46 222 07 49

Cover photo

Immunofluorescence microscopy image of blood cell-derived extracellular vesicles in red, taken up by differentiated human monocytic cells (THP-1) in green, by Ashmita Tontanahal

Copyright Ashmita Tontanahal

Paper 1 © by the Authors (Open Access)

Paper 2 <sup>©</sup> by the Authors (Open Access)

Paper 3 <sup>©</sup> by the Authors (Manuscript unpublished)

Paper 4 © by the Authors (Manuscript unpublished)

Faculty of Medicine, Clinical Sciences Lund, Department of Pediatrics ISBN 978-91-8021-112-3 ISSN 1652-8220

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2021



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se

To my family

## Table of contents

List of papers	9
Abbreviations	11
Abstract	13
Introduction	15
Enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli	17
EHEC adhesion to cells in the gastrointestinal tract	17
Interplay between intestinal microflora and EHEC	19
Key players of EHEC	19
Shiga toxin	20
Lipopolysaccharide	23
Outer membrane vesicles	24
E. coll secreted serine protease, EspP	23
EHEC-induced hemolytic uremic syndrome	27
Host response during EHEC infection	29
EHEC interaction with the intestinal epithelium	29
Shiga toxin interaction with blood cells	29
Animal models of <i>E. coli</i> O157:H7 infection	31
Extracellular vesicles	35
Types of EVs	
Mechanisms of EV release	
Mechanisms of EV uptake	
Importance of EVs	
Treatment strategies for EHEC infection	41
Current treatment strategies	41
Proposed experimental treatment strategies	41
Potential treatment strategies investigated in this thesis	43

Annexin A5	44
Purinergic receptors, ATP signaling and blockade	44
Apvrase	45
Immunoglobulin	46
The present investigation	47
Specific aims	47
Methods	48
Results	
Paper I	52
Paper II	53
Paper III	54
Paper IV	55
Discussion	56
Conclusions	61
Acknowledgements	63
References	

## List of papers

This thesis is based on the following papers:

- I. **Tontanahal A**, Arvidsson I, Karpman D. Annexin induces cellular uptake of extracellular vesicles and delays disease in *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 infection. *Microorganisms*. 2021; 9(6):1143.
- II. Johansson KE, Ståhl AL, Arvidsson I, Loos S, Tontanahal A, Rebetz J, Chromek M, Kristoffersson AC, Johannes L, Karpman D. Shiga toxin signals via ATP and its effect is blocked by purinergic receptor antagonism. *Sci Reports*. 2019; 9(1):14362.
- III. Arvidsson I, Tontanahal A, Johansson KE, Kristoffersson AC, Kellnerová S, Berger M, Dobrindt U, Karpman D. Apyrase exerts protective effects in *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 infection by decreasing bacterial Shiga toxin release and host cell injury: in vivo and in vitro studies. Manuscript.
- IV. Tontanahal A, Sperandio V, Kovbasnjuk O, Loos S, Kristoffersson AC, Karpman D, Arvidsson I. IgG binds *Escherichia coli* serine protease EspP and protects mice from *E. coli* O157:H7 infection. Submitted.

Permissions to reprint the previously published articles has been granted by the respective publishers. (Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License)

The following papers have been published but are not included in the thesis:

Villysson A, **Tontanahal A**, Karpman D. Microvesicle involvement in Shiga toxinassociated infection. *Toxins*. 2017; 9(11):376.

Johansson KE, Willysson A, Kristoffersson AC, **Tontanahal A**, Gillet D, Ståhl AL, Karpman D. Shiga toxin-bearing microvesicles exert a cytotoxic effect on recipient cells only when the cells express toxin receptor. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol*. 2020;10:212.

Karpman D, **Tontanahal A**. Extracellular vesicles in renal inflammatory and infectious diseases. *Free Radic Biol Med*. 2021; 171:42-54.

## Abbreviations

A/E	Attaching and effacing lesion
ADP	Adenosine diphosphate
AnxA5	Annexin A5
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
BiP	Binding immunoglobulin protein
EHEC	Enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli
Esp	Escherichia coli secreted protein
ER	Endoplasmic reticulum
EVs	Extracellular vesicles
Gb3	Globotriaosylceramide
Gb4	Globotetraosylceramide
GP	Glycoprotein
HUS	Hemolytic uremic syndrome
IgG	Immunoglobulin G
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
МАРК	Mitogen activated protein kinase
OMVs	Outer membrane vesicles
PS	Phosphatidylserine
Stx	Shiga toxin
TLR	Toll-like receptor
T3SS	Type three secretion system

### Abstract

Shiga toxin (Stx), the unique virulence factor released by enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* (EHEC), associated with gastrointestinal infection and in severe cases hemolytic uremic syndrome (HUS). Up until now, no effective therapies have been developed to control disease progression. In this thesis, four novel treatment strategies have been investigated targeting different aspects of EHEC pathogenesis. An established mouse model was used in which mice were infected with EHEC intragastrically. During EHEC infection, extracellular vesicles (EVs) are involved in the transport of Stx from the gut to the kidney. High levels of prothrombotic EVs that expose phosphatidylserine and tissue factor have been detected in patients with EHEC-associated HUS.

In the first study, treatment with annexin A5 (anxA5) induced an increase in phagocytic uptake of EVs *in vitro*. Administration of anxA5 to EHEC-infected mice resulted in lower levels of circulating platelet-derived EVs and delayed disease development.

In the second study, Stx triggered adenosine triphosphate (ATP) release from HeLa cells and similar results were obtained in a mouse model. ATP signals via purinergic receptors. Inhibition of purinergic P2X receptors with NF449 or suramin inhibited Stx-induced calcium influx and EV release. NF449 protected cells from Stx-induced toxicity and suramin decreased EV release even *in vivo* in mice.

The third study targeted extracellular ATP by using apyrase in EHEC-infected mice. Apyrase cleaves extracellular ATP and adenosine diphosphate (ADP). Mice were injected with apyrase intraperitoneally. Treatment protected the mouse intestines from damage and delayed the onset of disease symptoms. Apyrase decreased bacterial release of Stx2 by reducing RecA involved in the SOS response and bacteriophage activation. In addition, apyrase lowered platelet aggregation when platelets were co-incubated with Stx2 and *E. coli* O157:H7 lipopolysaccharide in the presence of collagen. Thus, apyrase had a dual protective effect on both the bacterial release of toxin and host cell activation and injury.

The fourth study focused on the effect of immunoglobulin G (IgG) on EHEC infection. Intraperitoneal administration of murine IgG to EHEC-infected mice had a clear beneficial effect on bacterial colonization, survival and intestinal and renal pathology. *In vitro* studies utilized both mouse and human IgG and showed that the Fc domain bound to the EHEC virulence factor, EspP, *E. coli* secreted serine

protease. EspP is involved in bacterial adherence to the intestine, and intestinal injury during EHEC infection. It has potent enzymatic activity that was inhibited by the interaction with IgG. This indicates that the protective effects of IgG administration in EHEC-infected mice could be due to the interaction between IgG and EspP.

In summary, this thesis investigated novel treatment strategies targeting different aspects of EHEC pathogenesis such as bacterial colonization, release of Stx from EHEC, phagocytic clearance of Stx-containing and prothrombotic EVs in the circulation and protection against the cytotoxic and prothrombotic effects of Stx using both *in vitro* and *in vivo* experimental set-ups. The results show that treatments such as anxA5, apyrase and IgG, when administered at an early stage of infection, may have therapeutic potential in EHEC infection.

**Keywords:** EHEC, hemolytic uremic syndrome, Shiga toxin, extracellular vesicles, annexin A5, purinergic signaling, ATP, apyrase, IgG, EspP

### Introduction

Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* (EHEC), is a highly potent human pathogen causing gastrointestinal infection and in severe cases leading to the development of hemolytic uremic syndrome (HUS).<sup>1</sup> HUS is defined by acute kidney injury, hemolytic anemia and thrombocytopenia, occurring simultaneously.<sup>2</sup> After ingestion of contaminated food or water, EHEC migrates through the gastrointestinal tract and colonizes the larger intestine.<sup>3</sup> EHEC is a non-invasive bacterium and elicits its effects by release of virulence factors, both in the intestine and systemically, leading to infection of the gastrointestinal tract and in severe cases bloody diarrhea due to hemorrhagic colitis.

Shiga toxin (Stx), a bacteriophage-encoded protein, is considered to be the main virulence factor released by EHEC upon bacterial cell lysis.<sup>4, 5</sup> Stx is an AB5 toxin with an enzymatic A-subunit and one pentameric binding B-subunit.<sup>6</sup> The toxin binds to the glycolipid globotriaosylceramide<sup>7</sup> or globotetraosylceramide receptors, termed Gb3 and Gb4, respectively.<sup>8</sup> Following binding, Stx is taken up by the cell and undergoes retrograde transport first to the trans-Golgi network and then the endoplasmic reticulum (ER), before being released into the cytosol.<sup>9</sup> In the cytosol, Stx interacts with the ribosome where it cleaves an adenine off the 28S rRNA, thereby inhibiting protein synthesis and resulting in cell death.<sup>6</sup>

After adherence of EHEC to the intestinal epithelial cells, Stx is released in the intestine. Severe intestinal damage allows the toxin to gain access into the circulation and thereafter reach the main target organ, the kidney. Stx has been shown to cause intestinal damage in mice<sup>10</sup> and be associated with dysentery in a primate model of Shigella dysenteriae.<sup>11</sup> Studies have shown that minimal amounts of free Stx are detected in patient serum.<sup>12</sup> However, Stx was bound to platelets,<sup>13-</sup> <sup>15</sup> monocytes,<sup>14, 16</sup> neutrophils<sup>14, 17, 18</sup> and red blood cells in patient samples.<sup>19, 20</sup> Binding of Stx to these blood cells induces the release of Stx-containing extracellular vesicles (EVs).<sup>14, 20, 21</sup> EVs are plasma membrane-derived vesicles that are released during cellular activation and apoptosis. EVs mediate cell-to-cell communication via transfer of receptors, nucleic acids and proteins from the parent cell to neighboring and distant cells.<sup>22</sup> Stx-positive blood cell-derived EVs circulate in the plasma of EHEC-infected patients and in EHEC-infected mice.<sup>21</sup> Toxin within vesicles were detected in the kidney of one patient and in EHEC-infected mice.<sup>21</sup> This indicates that Stx is transported systemically within blood cell-derived EVs which are then taken up by kidney cells. Upon reaching the kidney cells, the EVs

are internalized, the toxin is released and inhibits protein synthesis leading to cell death.  $^{\rm 21}$ 

To-date no effective treatment strategies have been developed against EHEC infection to control disease progression. Management involves symptomatic treatment and treatment with antibiotics are not recommended. Antibiotic treatment has been shown to induce the bacterial SOS response, leading to an increase in Stx production and release.<sup>23</sup> Antibiotic treatment has also been shown to increase the risk of development of HUS during the diarrheal phase of infection,<sup>24</sup> suggesting that its use during EHEC infection could be contraindicative. This thesis addresses four novel treatment strategies that targets various aspects of EHEC pathogenesis.

### Enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli

Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* (EHEC) is a pathogenic form of *E. coli*. EHEC has a zoonotic origin and cattle are recognized as its main reservoir.<sup>25</sup> Infection in humans mainly occurs by ingesting contaminated food or water. Upon ingestion, EHEC is transported through the gastrointestinal tract and colonizes the large intestine.<sup>26</sup> EHEC is non-invasive and does not cause bacteremia or septicemia<sup>3</sup> but it elicits its effects in the intestine, and systemically, by the release of virulence factors leading to gastrointestinal infection and bloody diarrhea, followed, in certain cases, by systemic spread of virulence factors.

Several pathogenic serotypes of EHEC have been identified and linked with human disease. They are subdivided in relation to the presence of lipopolysaccharide (LPS, O-antigen) and the flagella (H-antigen). *E. coli* O157:H7 was first isolated during an outbreak in Michigan and is considered to be the most common clinical isolate of EHEC associated with human disease.<sup>27</sup> Other EHEC serotypes that have been linked with human disease include O157:NM, O145:NM, O104:H21, O26:H11, O103:H2, O111:NM, O121:H9, O91:H21, O113:H21 and many others.<sup>28</sup>

#### EHEC adhesion to cells in the gastrointestinal tract

Adherence of EHEC to the intestinal epithelium is regulated by several proteins encoded by genes located in the locus of enterocyte effacement (LEE). Some of these proteins are responsible for the formation of attaching and effacing lesions (A/E lesions). In order for the bacteria to attach intimately to the host intestinal epithelial cells, EHEC express several proteins that assemble to form the type III secretion system (T3SS) (Figure 1). The T3SS consists of a needle-like structure containing the *E. coli* secreted protein (Esp)A filament which forms a hollow channel through which effector proteins can be translocated from the bacterium into the host cell. The EspA filament attaches to a translocation pore composed of EspB and EspD<sup>29</sup> on the host cell membrane through which effector proteins are delivered to the host. Through this pore, EHEC transports translocated intimin receptor (Tir) as well as Esp F-like protein from prophage U (EspF<sub>U</sub>).<sup>30, 31</sup> Tir injected into the host cell adopts a hairpin loop confirmation and the extracellular domain of Tir binds to the bacterial outer membrane protein, intimin.<sup>32</sup> This results in clustering of Tir and initiation of a signaling cascade causing polymerization of actin and formation of a

pedestal, a characteristic of A/E lesion.  $EspF_U$  along with Tir, recruit Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein (N-WASP) and contributes to actin polymerization.<sup>31, 33</sup> A complex formed by Tir, N-WASP and  $EspF_U$  initiates the formation of actin assembly in the host cell. Insulin receptor tyrosine kinase (IRTK) has been identified as the link between Tir and  $EspF_U$ . IRTK participates in the formation of actin pedestal-like structures (reviewed in<sup>34</sup>). Adherence of EHEC to intestinal epithelial cells followed by colonization of the bowel is regulated by the interplay between the commensal bacteria located in the intestine and EHEC, discussed in the following section.



Figure 1: Schematic representation of an attaching and effacing lesion formed by EHEC.

EHEC attaches to the intestinal epithelial cells via the type 3 secretion system and injects effector proteins and Tir (translocated intimin receptor) into the cell cytoplasm. Tir is inserted into the cell membrane, dimerizes and binds to intimin.  $EspF_U$  (E. coli secreted F-like protein from prophage U) along with Tir triggers polymerization of actin filaments in the cell cytoskeleton and subsequent formation of a pedestal-like structure resulting in an attaching and effacing lesion (A/E lesion).

Successful EHEC colonization is achieved by overcoming the host barriers that protect from invading pathogens. These include biological, mechanical and chemical barriers.<sup>35</sup> The biological barrier constitutes the intestinal microflora and studies have shown that modifying the intestinal microflora aids in establishing a successful colonization.<sup>36</sup> The mechanical barrier is provided by the mucus layer lining the intestinal epithelial cells. Studies have shown that the thickness and composition of the mucus layer is essential for protection against adherence of pathogens. The third line of protection offered by the host is a chemical barrier. Intestinal epithelial cells produce several antimicrobial peptides and proteins that, in turn, protect the integrity of the mucus layer.<sup>37</sup> Taken together, EHEC needs to

overcome these barriers in order to establish intestinal colonization. The role of the biological barrier in EHEC colonization is further discussed below.

#### Interplay between intestinal microflora and EHEC

The ability of EHEC to interact with the host microflora is genetically determined by quorum sensing, a mechanism employed by certain pathogenic bacteria to communicate with neighboring bacteria by the release of hormone-like compounds called autoinducers.<sup>38</sup> EHEC responds to specific signals that activate its virulence genes. These signals include a bacterial signal called autoinducer-3, produced by the intestinal commensal microflora, as well as adrenaline and noradrenaline, produced by the host. These signals trigger sensory kinases in the EHEC membrane which leads to activation of a regulatory cascade called quorum sensing.<sup>39</sup> This cascade activation in turn triggers activation of genes involved in motility, expression of LEE proteins and expression of EHEC virulence factors.

Two serine kinases have been identified in EHEC that are activated in response to adrenaline and noradrenaline.<sup>40</sup> One such sensory kinase is QseC. The role of QseC in EHEC-associated virulence has been studied using *qseC* mutants that attenuated the bacterial virulence in an animal model of EHEC infection.<sup>41</sup> *In vitro* and *in vivo* studies have shown that QseC is involved in pathogenesis of EHEC and inter-kingdom signalling.<sup>42</sup> QseEF is another sensory kinase that influences the formation of A/E lesions on intestinal epithelial cells by EHEC.<sup>43</sup> Both QseC and QseEF are involved in regulation of genes responsible for production of EHEC virulence factors.<sup>40</sup> Thus signaling via autoinducers produced by the microflora as well as QseC and QseEF plays a vital role in regulating expression of virulence genes in response to the intestinal microenvironment (reviewed in<sup>44</sup>).

#### Key players of EHEC

The interaction between host microbiota and EHEC has been linked to activation of genes responsible for expression of Shiga toxin (Stx), the most potent virulence factor of EHEC.<sup>38, 39</sup> Following adherence of EHEC to the host's intestinal epithelial cells after overcoming the barriers set up by the host, Stx is released in the intestine. Other factors that contribute to EHEC virulence include LPS, EHEC-hemolysin, subtilase and *E. coli* secreted serine protease, EspP.

#### Shiga toxin

Kiyoshi Shiga was the first to describe *Shigella dysenteriae*, a Stx-producing bacterium that could cause bloody diarrhea.<sup>45</sup> Like Shigella, EHEC also produce Stx.<sup>46</sup> Stx in EHEC is encoded by a bacteriophage inserted into the bacterial chromosome and is released upon bacterial cell lysis.<sup>4, 5</sup>

#### Shiga toxin and its receptors

Stx can be sub-divided into two major groups, Stx1 and Stx2. Stx produced by *Shigella dysenteriae* differs by a single amino acid from Stx1 produced by *E. coli*,<sup>47</sup> while Stx1 and Stx2 share 56% amino acid homology.<sup>48</sup> Several variants of both Stx1 and Stx2 have been identified. The known variants of Stx1 include Stx1a, Stx1c and Stx1d<sup>49</sup> and for Stx2, the variants include Stx2a-h.<sup>50</sup> All variants of Stx, have the conserved structure consisting of the A and B-subunits described above (reviewed in<sup>51</sup>). Except for Stx2e,<sup>52</sup> all Stxs bind to the cellular glycosphingolipid receptor Gb3<sup>7</sup> or Gb4.<sup>8</sup> Binding is considered to be a necessary step for their cytotoxicity, therefore in line with this, mice and cells lacking Gb3 are insensitive to Stx.<sup>53, 54</sup>

The Gb3 receptor is located in detergent-resistant membrane domains that are enriched with cholesterol and is required for the retrograde transport of Stx.<sup>55</sup> These specialized locations in the plasma membrane of the cell are called lipid rafts and are involved in transduction of cellular signals.<sup>56</sup> In HeLa cells, the interaction of Stx1 with the cells led to an increase in Gb3 expression in the lipid rafts and Stx is transported to the endoplasmic reticulum (ER).<sup>57</sup> An increase in Stx binding has also been achieved upon cholesterol extraction from adult renal tissue and led to an intracellular transport of the toxin to the lysosome.<sup>58</sup> These studies suggest that the interaction between Stx and its receptors could vary depending on the cell type and microenvironment of the membrane where the receptor is located.

#### Uptake and intracellular transport of Shiga toxin

After binding to its cell surface receptors, Stx is taken up by the cell. This can occur by several endocytic pathways including clathrin-dependent pathways or caveolin-dependent pathways.<sup>59, 60</sup> Receptor-bound toxin molecules cluster in the membrane and induce invaginations.<sup>61</sup> These invaginations containing Stx are stabilized with the help of endophilin and actin, while dynamin is responsible for the formation of intracellular vesicles by inducing scission of invaginations.<sup>62</sup> Thus the intracellular vesicles containing Stx fuse with the early endosome, and are then transported further to the trans-Golgi network and subsequently to the ER (Figure 2) (reviewed in<sup>63</sup>).



Figure 2: Schematic representation of Shiga toxin retrograde transport in cells.

Shiga toxin binds to Gb3 expressed on the cell surface. The toxin is taken up into the early endosome, after which it is transported to the Golgi apparatus and finally reaching the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). Before reaching the cytosol furin in the ER cleaves the A subunit of the toxin.

The intracellular route of toxin transport is dependent on the localization of Gb3 in the cell membrane. In macrophages and dendritic cells, Gb3 is not localized in lipid rafts and thereby the toxin is directed towards lysosomes, while in HeLa cells, the toxin is transported to the ER, owing to the localization of Gb3 in lipid rafts.<sup>64</sup> The retrograde transport of the toxin from the endosome to the trans-Golgi network is well regulated and is essential for its toxic effects.<sup>65</sup>

When Stx reaches the ER, the A-subunit is enzymatically cleaved by furin.<sup>66</sup> Furin is an enzyme that cleaves the disulfide bond linking the A1 and A2 moiety of the toxin. The A1 moiety is unfolded by binding immunoglobulin protein (BiP) which is an ER chaperone.<sup>67</sup> This chaperone is associated with a translocase and helps in refolding and translocation of the A1 moiety from the ER into the cytosol.<sup>67, 68</sup>

#### Intracellular function of Shiga toxin

In the cytosol, Stx binds to ribosomes and exerts its cytotoxic effect by the depurination of an adenine from the 28s rRNA.<sup>69</sup> This leads to the catalytic inactivation of the ribosome and inhibits protein synthesis.<sup>6</sup> Stx has also been shown to induce apoptosis in several different cell types such as intestinal epithelial cells, renal proximal tubular epithelial cells and glomerular cells.<sup>70-72</sup> The mechanism by which Stx induces apoptosis has been studied in epithelial cells, showing that apoptosis is induced by activation of caspase 3, 8 and 9.<sup>73-75</sup> Studies have also shown that Stx enhances the expression of Bax,<sup>76, 77</sup> which in turn induces the release of cytochrome C, leading to promotion of apoptosis.<sup>8</sup> Bcl-xL is a potent inhibitor of Bax. Cells are protected from Stx-induced apoptosis by downregulating Bax and upregulating Bcl-xL, for example by ouabain.<sup>77</sup> While Stx-induced apoptosis can be mediated by a caspase, apoptosis can also be mediated by a caspase-independent pathway.<sup>79</sup> Stx inhibited expression of an anti-apoptotic protein associated with early onset of apoptosis in endothelial cells.<sup>80</sup>

Stx has been shown to activate stress-associated signaling pathways called the ribotoxic stress response or ER stress response. Signaling via these pathways induces release of cytokines through activation of transcription factors<sup>81</sup> and in turn leads to apoptosis, thus contributing to Stx-associated disease (reviewed in<sup>82</sup>). Stx induces a ribotoxic stress response by activation of p38 and c-Jun N-terminal kinase mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK).<sup>70</sup> This stress response is activated by the depurination reaction occurring in the ribosome. Toxoid, a modified form of Stx that lacks its toxic activity but is still antigenic, cannot induce activation of MAPK and hence does not induce ribotoxic stress.<sup>83</sup>

Stx can also induce ER stress signaling. As mentioned above, Stx upon localization to the ER, is recognized by BiP.<sup>67</sup> BiP is a protein regulating the ER stress response by surveying protein folding and inhibiting stress-inducing proteins. In the ER, when an incorrectly folded protein is identified by BiP, BiP associates with this protein. BiP then losses its inhibitory effect on the ER stress proteins which leads to ER stress signaling.<sup>84</sup>

In summary, Stx exerts multiple mechanisms of cytotoxicity including ribonuclease activity, induction of ER stress and apoptosis.

#### Release of Shiga toxin from the bacteria and its transport across epithelial cells

Stx released in the intestine may migrate through or between cells in order to gain access to the circulation and thereafter be transported to the kidney. Stx has been shown to cause intestinal damage in animal models of *E. coli* O157:H7 infection<sup>10</sup> and hemorrhagic colitis in *Shigella dysenteriae* 1 infection.<sup>11</sup> The exact mechanism by which Stx is transported across the intestinal epithelial cells has not been completely elucidated while several mechanisms have been described.

In the intestine, Stx is released following bacterial cell lysis from EHEC<sup>85</sup> and/or via outer membrane vesicles (OMVs).<sup>86</sup> OMVs are vesicles secreted from the outer membrane of all Gram-negative bacteria.<sup>87</sup> Stx can be transported across the intestinal epithelial cells via transcytosis, as has been described for both Stx1 and Stx2.<sup>88</sup> Furthermore, the toxin has been shown to be transported via the paracellular route, by which the toxin passes the intestinal epithelium in the intercellular space between cells. This process in enhanced by the transmigration of neutrophils in the opposite direction, towards the intestinal lumen.<sup>89</sup>

Stx has also been shown to be taken up by intestinal cells via macropinocytosis. This is followed by the release of Stx to the basolateral environment by transcytosis. Inhibition of macropinocytosis by inhibiting proteins involved in actin remodeling during the formation of macropinocytic blebs, reduced the transport of Stx across the intestinal epithelial cells.<sup>90</sup>

Irrespective of the mechanism by which Stx is transported across the intestinal cells, it encounters a layer of connective tissue, the lamina propria. Stx has been demonstrated in the lamina propria in a study involving intestinal organ culture.<sup>91</sup> Studies have shown that EHEC infection in humans can cause severe intestinal inflammation and mucosal damage.<sup>10, 92</sup> Stx leaks through the damaged mucosal barrier, enters the circulation and interacts with blood cells. This aspect will be further discussed under the host response.

#### Lipopolysaccharide

LPS is an abundant outer membrane protein found in gram-negative bacteria. LPS activates the innate immune response and when LPS is found in systemic circulation it is termed as endotoxemia. Studies have shown the presence of serum antibodies against O157LPS and elevated levels of LPS binding proteins in patients during the acute phase of *E. coli* O157:H7 infection.<sup>93,94</sup> During bacterial proliferation or lysis, fragments of the bacterial membrane containing LPS may gain access to the circulation. In the circulation, LPS interacts with CD14, an anchored protein expressed on the cell surface. This interaction transfers LPS to toll-like receptor (TLR)4/MD2.<sup>95</sup> LPS can also interact with soluble CD14.<sup>96</sup> The interaction between LPS and CD14 can induce intracellular signaling via myeloid differentiation primary response 88 (MyD88).<sup>97</sup> Binding of LPS to TLR4 induces the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines and type 1 interferon, resulting in a strong immune response (reviewed in<sup>98</sup>).

The role of LPS in the pathogenesis of EHEC-associated disease has been studied in animal models. Coadministration of LPS and Stx1 in baboons, showed that LPS potentiated Stx-induced toxicity by upregulating renal Stx receptor.<sup>99</sup> Lethal effects of Stx2 were also enhanced upon LPS pretreatment of both rabbits and mice,<sup>100-102</sup> indicating that LPS and Stx could act synergistically. The synergistic effect of LPS and Stx has also been shown in *in vitro* studies involving human umbilical vein endothelial cells showing that preincubation with LPS enhanced the cytotoxicity of Stx.<sup>103</sup>

LPS from *E. coli* O157 has been shown to bind and activate platelets through TLR4/CD62 receptor complex. In mice, O157LPS binds to TLR4 on platelets and leads to platelet activation.<sup>104</sup> These mice also had reduced platelet counts which could be due to a direct consequence of LPS binding to platelets.<sup>104</sup> Similarly, interaction between LPS and human platelets led to activation of platelets as measured by expression of glycoprotein (GP)IIb/IIIa receptor.<sup>104</sup> GPIIb/IIIa is a major protein involved in platelet adhesion and aggregation.<sup>105</sup> LPS has been found to be bound to platelets of children with EHEC-associated HUS and this binding was also detected even before the children developed HUS.<sup>104</sup> During HUS, many factors can contribute to platelet activation such as endothelial damage, release of chemokines from monocytes<sup>106</sup> and endothelial cells<sup>107</sup> and direct activation of platelets by Stx and LPS.<sup>14</sup> Stx has been shown to bind platelets and activate them.<sup>13, 15</sup> This data suggests that platelet activation occurring during HUS could be due to a combined stimulatory effect, thus contributing to microthrombi formation during HUS.

#### **Outer membrane vesicles**

OMVs are membrane vesicles that arise due to blebbing of the bacterial outer membrane of gram-negative bacteria.<sup>87</sup> Release of OMVs is a ubiquitous process and has been observed for several non-pathogenic and pathogenic bacteria including E. coli O157:H7.86 OMVs have been shown to be carriers of bacterial toxins and other virulence factors, protecting their contents from the external environment, resulting in long distance transportation.<sup>65, 108-110</sup> Bacteria tend to increase the release of OMVs when they encounter stress signals in their surrounding environment. EHEC has been shown to increase the secretion of OMVs loaded with outer membrane proteases. These protect the bacteria from the anti-microbial protein, cathelicidin. Anti-microbial proteins are released by the host epithelial cells as a defense mechanism against pathogens. Thus, outer membrane protease-loaded OMVs act as a bacterial mechanism against cathelicidin.<sup>111</sup> EHEC-associated OMVs can also contain Stx, cytolethal dissecting toxin V, EHEC-hemolysin and flagellin.<sup>65, 86, 109</sup> These OMVs can transport virulence factors and cause host cells to arrest in the G2 phase. EHEC OMVs can induce apoptosis in human intestinal epithelial and microvascular endothelial cells.<sup>65, 112</sup> Furthermore, EHEC-associated OMVs carrying Stx2a have been shown to cause renal damage in a mouse model suggesting the role of OMVs in EHEC pathogenesis.<sup>113</sup>

#### E. coli secreted serine protease, EspP

The release of Esps has been shown to be associated with the formation of A/E lesions in the host cell.<sup>114</sup> *E. coli* strains secrete serine proteases belonging to the protein family of serine protease autotransporters of *Enterobacteriaceae* (SPATE) via the type-V secretion system.<sup>115</sup> An EHEC secreted serine protease, EspP has been shown to be involved in adherence of EHEC to intestine of calves and bovine intestinal epithelial cells.<sup>116</sup> It has been suggested to play a part in the development of watery diarrhea by contributing to ion transport in human colonoid cells.<sup>117</sup> EspP has been related to the virulence of EHEC strains.<sup>118</sup> EspP has been shown to cleave coagulation factor V<sup>119</sup> and complement factors C3, C3b and C5<sup>120</sup> although it is unclear if these enzymatic processes take place *in vivo. In vitro* it can also cleave pepsin.<sup>121</sup>

# EHEC-induced hemolytic uremic syndrome

HUS manifests with the simultaneous development of non-immune hemolytic anemia, thrombocytopenia and acute kidney injury.

Hemolytic anemia during HUS is associated with the fragmentation of red blood cells, resulting in generation of schistocytes.<sup>122</sup> It is assumed that red blood cells are damaged upon passage through narrow and partially occluded vessels. Additionally, oxidative damage of the red blood cells leads to alterations in membrane fluidity, which has also been described as a contributing factor to hemolysis observed during HUS.<sup>123</sup> EHEC-associated HUS patients were found to have complement deposition on red blood cells and similarly, Stx induces complement deposition on red blood cells *in vitro*.<sup>20</sup> These data suggests that hemolysis occurring during HUS could be partly due to complement activation on red blood cells induced by Stx.

Thrombocytopenia in HUS is secondary to platelet consumption associated with their activation and secondary to interaction with damaged endothelial cells.<sup>15, 34</sup> Platelets can be activated either by Stx and LPS directly<sup>14, 15</sup> or by cytokines released by activated cells.<sup>106, 107</sup> On damaged endothelial cells, platelets interact with fibrinogen, collagen and von Willebrand factor, leading to the formation of aggregates.<sup>124</sup> *In vitro* stimulation of platelets with Stx and LPS leads to platelet activation<sup>15, 104</sup> and release of platelet-derived EVs.<sup>14, 125</sup> Platelet-derived EVs have been found in HUS patients indicative of *in vivo* platelet activation.<sup>104</sup> During HUS, platelets are involved in inflammatory processes by interacting with leukocytes<sup>14</sup> and by release of proinflammatory cytokines.<sup>126</sup> Activation of platelets leads to their deposition on the endothelium and the formation of microthrombi during HUS.

Acute kidney injury during HUS is characterized by severe renal cortical injury.<sup>72</sup> This manifests with vessel wall thickening, detachment of endothelial cells, microthrombi formation and occlusion of glomerular capillaries as well as severe tubular damage.<sup>72</sup> Studies have shown that Stx does in fact reach the kidney after being released in the intestine.<sup>21,127,128</sup> The toxin affects glomerular and tubular cells by inducing apoptosis.<sup>72</sup> In addition to this, activation and influx of neutrophils<sup>129</sup> occurs as well as aggregation of platelets on damaged endothelial cells resulting in the formation of microthrombi.<sup>126</sup> Elevated cytokine levels have been associated with renal damage in HUS patients.<sup>130</sup> Complement activation could also contribute

to renal tissue injury as Stx and other EHEC-associated virulence factors can activate the complement system.<sup>20, 131, 132</sup> Complement activation could contribute to toxin-induced cellular injury and trigger prothrombotic reactions.

## Host response during EHEC infection

#### EHEC interaction with the intestinal epithelium

EHEC colonization of the intestine leads to an inflammatory response.<sup>35, 36</sup> The innate immune system is activated by pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) including LPS and flagellin.<sup>133, 134</sup> Recognition of PAMPs initiates a signaling cascade mediate by TLR4 and 5. The intestinal epithelial cells in response to infection include release of pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF $\alpha$  and IL-8.<sup>135, 136</sup> IL-8 is considered as a potent neutrophil chemoattractant and an increase in IL-8 levels has been associated with an increased risk of development of HUS during EHEC infection in children.<sup>137, 138</sup> Neutrophil translocation across the intestinal epithelial cells promotes systemic cytokine release.<sup>89</sup> Rabbits challenged with Stx resulted in an increase of chemokine mRNA levels in the kidney and urine protein levels.<sup>139</sup> Children with HUS also exhibited elevated levels of cytokines in serum and urine.<sup>130</sup>

#### Shiga toxin interaction with blood cells

There are minimal amounts of free Stx in the circulation in patients with HUS.<sup>12</sup> Toxin binds to blood cells (neutrophils, monocytes, platelets and red blood cells) and can thus circulate systemically.<sup>13, 14, 16, 19</sup> Stx is not toxic to any of these blood cells.<sup>16, 35</sup>

Stx binds to platelets via Gb3 and a glycospingolipid receptor termed 0.03.<sup>13, 140</sup> Stx circulates bound to platelets during HUS.<sup>14</sup> Binding of Stx to platelets results in internalization of the toxin, leading to activation and aggregation on endothelial cells.<sup>15</sup> This in turn leads to platelet consumption involved in the formation of microthrombi on damaged endothelium, resulting in thrombocytopenia.<sup>34</sup> Low platelet counts on account of platelet consumption in renal microthrombi are a characteristic of HUS.

Stx binds to neutrophils as demonstrated in patients with HUS.<sup>12, 14, 17</sup> Stx also binds to platelet and neutrophil aggregates.<sup>14</sup> There is a rise in neutrophils during HUS which is associated with prognosis.<sup>141</sup> This rise in neutrophils could be due to the effect of Stx2-induced stimulation of polymorphonuclear neutrophil progenitors as shown by *in vivo* studies.<sup>142</sup> During EHEC infection, neutrophils are activated thus

inducing release of proteases and reactive oxygen species.<sup>143</sup> These activated neutrophils adhere to the endothelium in the presence of Stx, leading to the expression of MCP-1 and IL-8 on the endothelial cell surface and leukocyte transmigration.<sup>81</sup> Thus Stx-induced activation of neutrophils, leading to degranulation and adherence to the endothelium could lead to increased endothelial damage.

Monocytes express Gb3 and can thereby bind Stx. Binding is enhanced in the presence of LPS. Stx does not inhibit protein synthesis in monocytes.<sup>16</sup> Binding of Stx induces the release of cytokines namely IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, IL-8, and TNF- $\alpha$  as shown *in vitro*.<sup>16</sup> This in turn leads to activation of platelets<sup>106</sup> and monocytic cytokines can thereby participate in prothrombotic mechanisms associated with HUS. Stx2 and LPS induce tissue factor expression on monocytes and these activated monocytes can form complexes with platelets.<sup>14</sup> Additionally, Stx2 induces the release of monocyte-derived EVs bearing tissue factor which are found in the circulation in HUS patients.<sup>14</sup> Tissue factor-positive EVs can bind to platelets *in vitro* and participate in the prothrombotic processes occurring during HUS.<sup>14</sup>

Stx binds to the P<sup>k</sup> antigen (CD77) on red blood cells.<sup>19</sup> The P<sup>k</sup>, P and P<sub>1</sub> antigens give rise to five different red blood cell phenotypes namely P<sub>1</sub>, P<sub>2</sub>, P<sub>1</sub><sup>k</sup>, P<sub>2</sub><sup>k</sup> and p. All but the p red blood cell phenotype express the P<sup>k</sup> antigen and can bind Stx to varying extents.<sup>144</sup> One study suggested that strong expression of P<sub>1</sub> antigen on red blood cells could protect from toxin-mediated injury as the toxin would bind to red blood cells and thus protect the more sensitive cells from toxin-mediated injury.<sup>145</sup> *In vitro*, Stx2 stimulation of human red blood cells from donors with the P<sub>1</sub>, P<sub>2</sub>, P<sub>1</sub><sup>k</sup>, and P<sub>2</sub><sup>k</sup> phenotypes induced release of complement-coated red blood cell-derived EVs, indicating that EV release and complement activation could be related to expression of toxin receptor.<sup>20</sup> This *in vitro* study also showed that Stx2 induced hemolysis. Hemolysis has also been demonstrated in a primate model injected with Stx<sup>146</sup> and mice infected with *E. coli* O157:H7 exhibited fragmented red blood cells.<sup>147</sup>

# Animal models of *E. coli* O157:H7 infection

Animal models of EHEC infection have been developed in order to reproduce aspects of the human disease and understand how HUS develops. To date, no small animal model has been developed that fully mimics human EHEC infection. The available animal models can help researchers understand aspects of EHEC pathogenesis and HUS. The most widely used animal model is the mouse while others such as rats, rabbits, pigs, zebrafish, ferrets, monkey and chickens have also been described (Figure 3). Here I will first describe animal models of EHEC infection followed by those with Stx injection to mimic human disease.



#### Figure 3: Animal models used to study E. coli O157:H7 infection.

Several animal models have been inoculated with E. coli O157:H7 in an attempt to mimic the human infection.

Mice infected with EHEC via the oral/intragastric route exhibit some but not all the attributes of human infection. EHEC infected mice exhibit intestinal colonization, weight loss, as well as systemic and neurological signs of disease.<sup>10, 133, 147-149</sup> EHEC infection in mice cannot reproduce certain aspects of human disease as mice infected with EHEC do not develop diarrhea. Infected mice exhibit intestinal pathology including inflammatory infiltrates, thickening of the submucosa, damaged crypts and edema<sup>133, 147</sup> and renal pathology including mesangial cell proliferation and deposition of fibrin in the glomeruli<sup>133</sup> along with desquamation of tubular epithelial cells and presence of red blood cells in the tubular lumen.<sup>133, 147</sup> EHEC-infected mice also exhibit low platelet and red blood cell counts and elevated plasma creatinine and blood urea nitrogen (BUN) levels.<sup>133, 150</sup> The streptomycin-treated mouse model was developed in order improve colonization of streptomycin-resistant E. coli O157:H7 to the gastrointestinal tract.<sup>149</sup> In this model, mice were successfully colonized when treated with streptomycin in drinking water to reduce the normal intestinal microflora prior to overnight fasting of only food.<sup>149</sup> This led to development of cortical tubular necrosis while no glomerular damage was observed in infected mice. Glomerular lesions in E. coli O157:H7 infection were observed in germ-free mice pretreated with TNFa prior to inoculation with E. coli O157:H7.<sup>151</sup> The germ-free E. coli O157:H7 model has been used in several studies that investigated bacterial internalization by the epithelium<sup>152</sup> and assessed the virulence of mutant E. coli O157:H7 strains.<sup>153</sup> However, the germ-free mice in comparison to the streptomycin-treated mice lack mucosal adherence of E. coli O157:H7 in the colon.154

Mouse models in which the normal microflora was not altered have also been utilized. C3H/HeN and C3H/HeJ mice inoculated intragastrical with high doses of *E. coli* O157:H7, developed gastrointestinal, neurological, and renal manifestations resulting in mortality and morbidity.<sup>147</sup>

Unlike human intestinal epithelial cells that have been reported to lack Gb3,<sup>91, 155</sup> murine intestinal epithelial cells in the distal colon express Gb3.<sup>156</sup> Therefore the difference in renal pathological findings between mice and humans could be attributed to the localization of Gb3 in the tissue. Gb3 is expressed in human glomerular endothelial cells<sup>157</sup> and tubular epithelial cells<sup>158</sup> while in mice, it is expressed only in the tubular epithelium but not in glomerular endothelium.<sup>54, 159</sup>

Rats were treated intraperitoneally with culture supernatant from recombinant *E. coli* expressing Stx2.<sup>160</sup> This model of rats exhibited watery diarrhea, hemolytic anemia due to vascular damage, thrombocytopenia and kidney injury associated with tubular and glomerular necrosis, similar to those described in humans.<sup>160</sup>

Rabbits infected orally/intragastrically with *E. coli* O157:H7 infection developed diarrhea, weight loss as well as renal vascular and glomerular lesions.<sup>161-163</sup> However, EHEC infected rabbits do not develop thrombocytopenia.<sup>164</sup>

Germ-free gnotobiotic piglets orally infected with Stx2-producing *E. coli* O157:H7 or *E. coli* O26:H11 developed intestinal manifestations such as damage to the intestinal mucosa and thrombotic microangiopathy in the kidney resembling HUS. Anemia, thrombocytopenia and kidney failure could not be reproduced in this model.<sup>165</sup>

Zebrafish have been used to study the colonization and pathogen-microbiota interactions during foodborne EHEC infection. This model allows the study of molecular aspects of EHEC colonization as well as pathogenesis at a single cell level.<sup>166</sup>

Ferrets treated with streptomycin and colonized with *E. coli* O157:H7 upon oral infection exhibited weight loss, glomerular lesions, hematuria and some even developed thrombocytopenia.<sup>167</sup>

Monkeys intragastrically infected with *E. coli* O157:H7 developed diarrhea. Histological analysis showed the formation of intestinal A/E lesions, epithelial cell damage, neutrophil infiltration and in the kidney, moderate tubular damage. Elevated levels of leukocytes and neutrophils was also observed. This model closely resembles the early stages of disease caused by *E. coli* O157:H7 infection.<sup>168</sup>

Chickens infected with *E. coli* O157:H7 were predominantly colonized in the cecum and exhibited formation of A/E lesions. No damage to other organs or other parts of the gastrointestinal tract was observed.<sup>169</sup>

In addition to animal models of EHEC infection, models have also been developed using purified Stx. Mice injected with Stx alone or in combination with LPS developed clinical signs of disease including thrombocytopenia, hemolysis, renal failure and weight loss.<sup>133, 170</sup> These mice exhibited platelet deposition in the glomeruli, glomerular damage due to red blood cell infiltration<sup>132, 170, 171</sup> and microthrombi in glomerular capillaries.<sup>170</sup> Tubular damage was also observed. An increase in BUN levels was demonstrated, indicative of kidney injury.<sup>102, 172</sup>

Rabbits injected with Stx exhibited gastrointestinal and neurological pathology. In the intestine, hemorrhages, edema and a damaged mucosal layer was observed. Similarly, hemorrhage, edema and microvascular thrombosis were observed in the spinal cord.<sup>173</sup>

Baboons infused intravenously with Stx1 developed renal failure and mucosal damage in the gastrointestinal tract. Glomerular lesions with swelling of podocytes and desquamation of capillary endothelium was observed along with glomerular microthrombi.<sup>146</sup>

Greyhounds dogs injected with Stx1 or Stx2 developed severe bloody diarrhea, low platelet counts, anemia and thrombotic microangiopathy.<sup>174</sup> Of note, there is a natural disease in dogs termed Alabama Rot that resembles human HUS.<sup>175</sup>
# Extracellular vesicles

Studies have shown that patients with EHEC-associated HUS have elevated levels of EVs in the circulation derived from blood cells<sup>14, 176, 177</sup> and that EVs take part in all aspects of HUS, including transport of Stx from the gut to the kidney, hemolysis and thrombosis (reviewed in<sup>178</sup>). Therefore, the study of EVs is relevant in order to understand the pathogenesis and to develop effective treatment strategies. In the following section EVs and their role in EHEC-associated HUS is discussed.

Most cells shed EVs during normal physiology or upon activation. These vesicles express contents of the cell of origin such as RNAs, receptors, proteins and phospholipids on their surface.<sup>179</sup> EVs are divided or subclassified into three subtypes which are differentiated based on their release mechanisms, size and cellular markers located on the outer leaflet. According to the earlier classification, EVs included exosomes, microvesicles and apoptotic bodies. The new guidelines of the International Society for Extracellular Vesicles, encourages authors to classify EVs based on either physical characteristics such as size, density or biochemical composition or based on the cell of origin.<sup>180</sup> EVs are accordingly referred to as small EVs (< 200 nm in diameter), medium and/or large EVs (> 200 nm in diameter)<sup>180</sup> (Figure 4).



#### Figure 4: Schematic representation of extracellular vesicle subtypes.

Extracellular vesicles (EVs) being shed from a cell are classified based on size into small-sized EVs (exosomes), medium-sized EVs (microvesicles) and larger EVs (apoptotic bodies).

One of the main functions of vesicles is to mediate cell-to-cell communication between neighboring and distant cells.<sup>22</sup> EVs can also be a means by which the cell rids themselves of unwanted materials in order to maintain cellular integrity.<sup>181</sup>

# Types of EVs

Small-sized EVs, with a diameter < 200 nm are a type EVs that are formed by inward budding of early endosomal membranes into intraluminal vesicles that are packed into multivesicular bodies.<sup>182</sup> Fusion of these multivesicular bodies with the plasma membrane of the cells leads to release of the intraluminal vesicles that when extruded from the cell are small-sized EVs (i.e. exosomes).<sup>182</sup> These are secreted by all cell types and have been detected in many body fluids.<sup>183</sup> Small-sized EVs have been shown to carry various forms of cargo such as proteins, lipids and RNAs.<sup>184</sup>, <sup>185</sup>

Medium-sized EVs, also termed microvesicles, with a diameter in the range of 200 – 1000 nm, are formed by direct outward budding of the cell plasma membrane. These can be released constitutively<sup>186</sup>, while an increase in their release has been associated with cellular activation.<sup>187</sup> Medium-sized EVs are mainly composed of cytosolic and plasma membrane-associated proteins of the parent cell. The role of medium-sized EVs in various cellular process have been extensively studied, including transport of RNAs, microRNAs, receptors, proteins and lipids.<sup>188</sup> EVs can also transfer foreign substances such as bacterial and parasitic virulence factors as these factors are protected from the host response when caged inside an EV.<sup>21, 189</sup> The physiological and pathological functions of EVs could include immune modulation, angiogenesis, thrombosis and tissue regeneration (reviewed in<sup>190</sup>).

Large-sized EVs, apoptotic bodies, sized > 1000 nm in diameter are released by cells undergoing apoptosis. They contain fragments of the parent cell including organelles, proteins and genomic DNA.<sup>191</sup> These EVs can be taken up by phagocytosis by immune cells thus lowering the inflammatory and apoptotic response.<sup>192</sup>

The protein content of larger-sized EVs is quite similar to that of the cell lysate however, the protein content of small- and medium-sized EVs can be enriched.<sup>193</sup> Thus EVs possess the unique property of packaging several types of cargo, which are then transported to other cells and result in alteration of the functions of the recipient cells.<sup>194</sup>

# Mechanisms of EV release

Release of EVs has been closely linked to intracellular calcium influx, cortical actin cleavage and loss of lipid membrane asymmetry.<sup>195, 196</sup> The plasma membrane of the cell is made up of asymmetrically distributed lipids. During homeostasis, PS and phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) are mainly located in the inner leaflet of the plasma membrane and this is maintained by calcium-dependent transmembrane enzymes namely flippases, floppases and scramblases. In a resting cell and under normal intracellular calcium levels, flippases are active, resulting in inward movement of PS and PE from the outer leaflet to the inner leaflet of the cell. Floppases are inactive during this state. Upon cellular activation, intracellular calcium rises, flippases are inactived while floppases and scramblases are activated, resulting in externalization of PS and PE to the other leaflet.<sup>197</sup> The role of these transmembrane enzymes in juggling lipids within the cell membrane has been shown to be involved in the release of EVs.

Another factor controlling the release of EVs is the actin cytoskeleton, which stabilizes the plasma membrane. For EVs to be released, especially in the case of medium-sized EVs, which directly bud off from the plasma membrane, the actin cytoskeleton needs to be disrupted. Cells contain calpain which cleaves and disrupts the actin cytoskeleton in a calcium-dependent manner contributing to EV release.<sup>195</sup>

In order for medium-sized EVs to be successfully released into the extracellular space, they need to undergo a scission step. This is mainly controlled by the endosomal sorting complexes required for transport machinery.<sup>198</sup>

# Mechanisms of EV uptake

EVs are taken up by the recipient cells by phagocytosis, macropinocytosis, clathrindependent endocytosis, caveolin-dependent endocytosis and membrane fusion. Phagocytosis is a receptor-mediated uptake mechanism involving the formation of membrane invaginations whereby the cell extends its membrane and engulfs other cells or large particles. A specialized group of cells can accomplish phagocytosis such as macrophages, neutrophils, monocytes and dendritic cells. The receptors located on the surface of phagocytes can be non-opsonic or opsonic. Non-opsonic receptors directly detect molecular patterns on the particle that needs to be phagocytosed while opsonic receptors detect host-derived proteins (opsonins) associated with the particles. Following the recognition, the phagocytic receptors initiate a signaling process that leads to remodeling of the actin cytoskeleton, membrane extension and engulfment of the particle (reviewed in<sup>199</sup>). Phagocytes can internalize EVs.<sup>200</sup> Exposure of PS on the surface of EVs is an important signal for phagocytosis.<sup>200</sup> Macropinocytosis is an endocytic pathway involving formation of membrane invaginations leading to uptake. This mechanism of uptake is similar to phagocytosis. However a direct interaction with EVs is not essential. Macropinocytosis is a rac1-, actin- and cholesterol-dependent mechanism and requires ion-exchanger activity.<sup>201</sup> Rac1 is a GTPase and its inhibition abrogates the uptake of EVs by microglia.<sup>202</sup>

Clathrin-dependent endocytosis involves internalization of EVs by inward budding of the plasma membrane resulting in clathrin forming a coat around the EVs. This clathrin-coated intracellular structure fuses with the early endosomes and mediates intracellular trafficking.<sup>203</sup>

Caveolin-dependent endocytosis like clathrin-dependent endocytosis, occurs by the formation of small membrane invaginations referred to as caveolae around the EVs leading to their internalization. Caveolae are sub-domains of lipid rafts of the plasma membrane that are rich in cholesterol, sphingolipids and caveolins.<sup>204</sup>

Membrane fusion is an alternative mechanism by which EVs can be internalized by recipient cells. This process occurs when two distinct lipid layers come in close proximity. The outer leaflets of the two membranes come in direct contact and form a hemi-fusion stalk along with the two membranes. The stalk then expands and forms a hemi-fusion diaphragm leading to the formation of a fusion pore. This results in mixing of the two hydrophobic cores and formation of one structure.<sup>205</sup> Proteins like SNAREs and Rab proteins are involved in this process.<sup>206</sup>

# Importance of EVs

EVs are shed both during physiological and pathological conditions into the extracellular environment and this occurs during the resting state or upon activation due to physical or chemical stress such as hypoxia, shear or oxidative stress.<sup>188</sup> The main role of EVs is to mediate cellular signaling in the target cells as well as to transfer cargo. EVs can also be utilized as biomarkers of disease as specific EVs are released during certain pathological processes.<sup>207</sup> EVs are found in a variety of biological fluids such as blood, urine, cerebrospinal fluid and saliva and their presence can be used as liquid biopsies.<sup>208</sup>

EVs are capable of horizontal transfer of mRNAs and microRNAs to the target cell and in turn regulate its protein expression.<sup>209</sup> EVs also contribute to thrombosis and coagulation. EVs derived from platelets and monocytes express tissue factor on their surface.<sup>14, 210</sup> Tissue factor forms a complex with coagulation factors FVII resulting in the activation of the extrinsic pathway of coagulation. The complex formed with tissue factor/FVII cleaves and activates FX.

Exposure of PS on EVs provides a platform for the assembly of the prothrombinase complex formed by FXa and FVa which participates in the conversation of prothrombin to thrombin.<sup>211</sup> PS-positive EVs are involved in coagulation by interacting with coagulation factor FV and FVII.<sup>212</sup> Platelet-derived EVs possess more procoagulant activity compared to their parent cell<sup>193</sup> and deposition of complement factors on EVs derived from platelets provide a membrane surface that allows assembly of the prothrombinase complex.<sup>213</sup> Furthermore, endothelial cell-derived EVs carrying von Willebrand factor have been shown to induce platelet aggregation suggesting the role of EVs in thrombosis.<sup>214</sup>

# Treatment strategies for EHEC infection

### Current treatment strategies

To date there are no available therapeutics against EHEC infection. The current management regimens for EHEC infection and HUS are supportive care and symptomatic treatments such as rehydration therapy and dialysis.<sup>215, 216</sup>

### Proposed experimental treatment strategies

Over the years, new therapeutic approaches have been developed for EHEC infection. These include antibodies against Stx, use of Gb3 mimics and inhibitors, vaccines, molecules blocking Stx-induced apoptosis and other alternatives targeting the pathogen. None of these are used in clinical practice but they will be shortly discussed in this section.

Antibodies targeting Stx, the primary agent causing organ damage in humans has been a prime target for therapeutic development. These antibodies aim to neutralize the toxin systemically during the earlier stages of infection. Studies using Stxspecific antibodies were able to neutralize the cytotoxic effect of the toxin both in vitro as well as in mice.<sup>217</sup> Rabbits immunized with Stx2 toxoid developed antibodies against Stx2 that protected E. coli O157:H7-infected mice by lowering the bacterial burden, and decreasing weight loss and death.<sup>218</sup> The most crucial aspects of immunization with Stx antibodies is the stage of infection and the dosage of the antibody, as the use of Stx antibodies has only been shown to protect EHEC infected patients from the development of HUS when administered shortly after the onset of diarrhea.<sup>219</sup> Protective effects of Stx-specific antibodies and their efficacy in piglet and mouse models cannot be applied to humans as both pigs and mice do not develop bloody diarrhea or HUS. Two monoclonal antibodies (Shigamabs<sup>®</sup>) against Stx1 and Stx2 were evaluated in phase II clinical trials as a treatment against Stx-producing E. coli infection (https://www.pharmaceuticalonline.com/doc/ thallion-and-lfb-terminate-shigamabs-collaboration-0001). Shigamabs® act as a neutralizing agent by forming a complex with the toxins which are then eliminated from the body.

Gb3 mimics or analogues have been investigated as a treatment strategy that aimed at interfering with the interaction between Stx and its receptor. SYNSORB Pk was the first identified Gb3 analogue to be tested in children diagnosed with EHECassociated HUS. However this treatment did not prove to be beneficial in this study as it was administered at a later time point during the course of the disease.<sup>220</sup> The lack of protective effects of this treatment could also be due to the impaired gastrointestinal motility among patients with diarrhea-associated HUS which may have limited the drug delivery to the distal intestine, where the bulk of the toxin in found during EHEC infection. Another factor that could explain the lack of protection in patients could be due to the interaction between EHEC and gastrointestinal epithelium which could hinder the capacity of the Gb3 analogue to bind to Stx in vivo.<sup>220</sup> However, carbohydrate based Gb3 analogs have been shown to be protective against damage caused by purified Stx<sup>221</sup> as well as EHEC infection in mice.<sup>222</sup> This treatment strategy like the antibody based treatment has a limitation with respect to the time point of administration which is very crucial in disease management.

Gb3 inhibitors aim at interfering with the synthesis of Gb3. This is achieved by inhibiting glucosylceramide synthase which is an enzyme involved in the ratelimiting step during the biosynthesis of Gb3. Oral administration of a Gb3 inhibitor in rats improved survival and protected the intestine and kidney from Stx-induced damage.<sup>223</sup> A more recent study showed a similar protective effect against Stx2-induced cytotoxicity in human renal tubular epithelial cells.<sup>224</sup>

### Potential treatment strategies investigated in this thesis

In this thesis, four novel treatment strategies have been investigated which potentially target different aspects of EHEC-associated HUS, including bacterial colonization and toxin release, intracellular signaling triggered by Stx and its systemic transport in EVs and effects of toxin on platelet activation. These strategies will be described here (Figure 5).



**Figure 5:** Schematic representation of targets of novel treatment strategies included in this thesis. 1) The effect of annexin A5 (anxA5) on uptake of blood cell-derived extracellular vesicles by phagocytes. 2) Inhibition of purinergic receptor signaling and its consequence on Shiga toxin (Stx)-induced effects on cells. 3) The effect of apyrase on Stx released from EHEC and on platelet activation. 4) The effect of immunoglobulin G (IgG) on EHEC colonization and its interaction with EspP.

#### Annexin A5

Annexins are a highly conserved protein family that are characterized by their ability to interact with biological membranes in a calcium-dependent manner.<sup>225</sup> They are expressed in many organisms, and are termed based on their origin, so that annexin A is found in humans, B found in invertebrates, C in fungi, D in plants and E in Protista.<sup>225</sup> Human annexins vary in expression levels from universal expression in many organs and cells (for example A1, A2, A4, A5, A6, A7 and A11), to selective expression (A3 in neutrophils, A8 in placenta and skin, A9 in tongue, A10 in stomach and A13 in small intestine).<sup>226</sup> Several intracellular and extracellular functions of annexins have been identified such as membrane trafficking<sup>227</sup> and repair,<sup>228</sup> exocytosis,<sup>229</sup> endocytosis,<sup>230</sup> intracellular signaling, vesicle aggregation,<sup>231</sup> interaction with the cytoskeletal membrane,<sup>232</sup> ion channel regulators, anticoagulant<sup>233</sup> and anti-inflammatory properties.<sup>234</sup>

Among the annexins, Annexin A5 (AnxA5) is the most abundant protein and is expressed in most cells and tissues.<sup>235</sup> The most widely known function of anxA5 is its ability to bind specifically to PS, which is a commonly used detection tool for apoptotic cells and EVs.<sup>236</sup> AnxA5 stabilizes membranes and contributes to membrane repair. A ruptured membrane creates a microenvironment with high local calcium levels, which triggers anxA5 to bind to exposed PS and assemble to form a 2D-lattice for membrane repair.<sup>237</sup> AnxA5 is also known to have several other roles such as inhibiting prothrombinase complex formation leading to an anticoagulant effect<sup>233</sup> and inhibiting proinflammatory responses *in vivo*.<sup>234, 238</sup>

Studies have investigated the interaction between EVs and cells in the presence of anxA5. AnxA5 inhibits uptake of hypoxia-induced stem cell-derived EVs by human umbilical cord endothelial cells.<sup>239</sup> In contrast, a similar effect could not be detected when alveolar macrophage-derived EVs were incubated with alveolar epithelial cells in the presence of anxA5.<sup>240</sup> The mechanism by which the cell membrane is modified due to interactions between PS and anxA5 resulting in uptake of EVs is still quite unclear and suggests that the effect of anxA5 on uptake of vesicles is highly dependent on the experimental conditions. In this thesis, the effect of anxA5 on the interaction between EVs and phagocytic cells was investigated *in vitro* and the consequence of anxA5 treatment was further studied using an *in vivo* mouse model of *E. coli O157:H7* infection.

#### Purinergic receptors, ATP signaling and blockade

The purinergic receptor family is a group of receptors that are activated by nucleotides. They are divided into P1, P2Y and P2X receptors.<sup>241</sup> P1 receptors activated by adenosine.<sup>242</sup> There are eight P2Y receptors. These are G-protein coupled receptors activated by ADP, ATP, UDP and UTP.<sup>243</sup> There are seven P2X receptors which are activated by ATP.<sup>244</sup> Among the P2X receptors, P2X1 is the

only one present on platelets and is a calcium ion channel.<sup>245</sup> Purinergic signaling is known to be involved in immune responses, inflammation, pain, platelet aggregation, cell proliferation, differentiation, wound healing, ageing and regeneration among others.<sup>246, 247</sup>

Among the P2X receptors, P2X7 is highly expressed on inflammatory cells and is activated by a high concentration of ATP.<sup>248</sup> Stimulation of this purinergic receptor induces the influx of calcium and increased shedding of plasma membrane-derived EVs.<sup>249</sup> The release of EVs on account of P2X7 activation by ATP has been studied in microglia and dendritic cells.<sup>250, 251</sup> The release of EVs can be inhibited by the removal of extracellular calcium or by using P2X7 antagonists.<sup>250, 252</sup> The importance of purinergic signaling in Stx-induced complement-mediated hemolysis and EV release from red blood cells and their inhibition of EV release in the presence of purinergic receptor antagonists has been studied.<sup>20</sup> Complement deposition on red blood cells and red blood cell-derived EVs were observed in EHEC-associated HUS patients.<sup>20</sup> Detection of C3 and not C5b-9 on red blood cells from HUS patients could suggest that red blood cell lysis occurred when C5b-9 deposited on cells thus preventing its detection. While, red blood cell-derived EVs from patients were coated with C5b-9 suggesting that either the cells or the EVs were exposed to complement activation. Purinergic receptor antagonists inhibited Stx-induced hemolysis and EV release from red blood cells. These findings are in line with the previous studies that showed that purinergic receptors contribute to hemolysis.<sup>253, 254</sup>

ATP, an activator of purinergic signaling, is involved in platelet aggregation.<sup>255</sup> ATP is released from platelets by collagen and thrombin. Modulation of purinergic signaling by ATP degradation or the use of purinergic receptor antagonists led to reduced platelet aggregation.<sup>256, 257</sup> In line with this, platelets from P2X1-deficient mice showed reduced thrombus formation upon collagen stimulation *ex vivo*.<sup>258</sup>

In this thesis blockade of P2X and specifically P2X1 in the context of Stx-mediated cytotoxicity and EV release, both *in vitro* and *in vivo* has been investigated.

#### Apyrase

Bacteria release extracellular ATP during their growth.<sup>259</sup> Extracellular ATP could be used as a source of nutrients or signaling molecule to communicate with other bacteria in the bacterial communities. Levels of ATP changes depending on the bacterial density suggesting that ATP could also be a signal for quorum sensing.<sup>259</sup> ATP released by commensal bacterium can activate dendritic cells in the lamina propria and induce release of inflammatory cytokines. This in turn led to the differentiation of Th17 cells (proinflammatory cells that play a crucial role during infection) and exacerbates colitis in mice.<sup>260</sup> ATP released by intestinal bacteria can also dampen the intestinal IgA response against enteropathogens.<sup>261</sup>

Extracellular ATP in the host cells can serve as a signaling molecule that triggers several pathological processes occurring during thrombosis and inflammation including chemotaxis,<sup>262</sup> activation of the inflammasome<sup>263</sup> and platelet activation.<sup>264</sup> Upon *in vitro* stimulation of cells with Stx, an increase in intracellular calcium levels is observed, triggering release of ATP.<sup>265</sup> Released ATP interacts with P2X receptors. ATP molecules can be degraded by enzymes called ecto-nucleotidases. Humans have two types of ecto-nucleotidases, namely CD39 and CD73. These are membrane bound enzymes and are generally expressed on endothelial cells as well as lymphocytes.<sup>266</sup> CD39 cleaves phosphate groups from ATP and ADP while CD73 cleaves the final phosphate group from AMP, resulting in adenosine. Ecto-nucleotidases play a crucial role in regulating extracellular ATP levels and purinergic receptor sensitivity to stimuli.

Apyrase is an ecto-ATPase capable of cleaving ATP, ADP and AMP.<sup>267</sup> It is a soluble enzyme usually extracted from potatoes. In this thesis, the effect of apyrase both in the host and on the bacteria was investigated. The effect of apyrase administration on survival, goblet cell depletion, intestinal apoptosis and levels of ATP and Stx2 in feces was investigated in our murine model of *E. coli O157:H7* infection. Effect of apyrase on platelet aggregation and its effect on release of Stx2 from the bacteria in culture was investigated *in vitro*.

#### Immunoglobulin

Antibodies against  $Stx^{268}$  have been developed as a treatment strategy against EHEC infection. However, they have not been found to be clinically tested or effective. A specific immunoglobulin Y preparation isolated from egg yolks inhibited the growth of *E. coli* O157:H7.<sup>269</sup> Bovine colostrum concentrates (rich in IgG) given to pediatric patients with EHEC-associated diarrhea resulted in reduced frequency of loose stools.<sup>219</sup> Similarly, oral administration of IgG-enriched bovine colostrum protected mice from *E. coli* O157:H7 infection.<sup>270</sup> In this thesis, the effect of IgG administration and its specific interaction with EHEC proteins has been further investigated *in vivo* for its effects on colonization, intestinal cell injury, renal failure and death and *in vitro* for its effects on impairing the enzymatic activity of a bacteria protein.

# The present investigation

The overall aim of this study was to investigate novel pathogenic mechanisms and protective measures during *E. coli* O157:H7 infection using *in vivo* and *in vitro* models, and ultimately develop novel therapies.

# Specific aims

- 1. To investigate the interaction of anxA5 with EVs and phagocytes *in vitro* and to further assess its effect on the course of disease during *E. coli* O157:H7 infection *in vivo* with special focus on EVs.
- 2. To investigate the role of ATP and purinergic signaling in Stx-induced cellular activation and the role of purinergic receptor blockade on Stx-mediated calcium influx, cytotoxicity and EV release.
- 3. To evaluate the significance of ATP signaling during *E. coli* O157:H7 infection *in vivo* by treating infected mice with apyrase and determine the dual protective effect of apyrase on the bacteria and the host.
- 4. To analyze the effect of IgG in murine *E. coli* O157:H7 infection and its interaction with EspP.

# Methods

A short description of the methods used in the papers within this thesis is given below. For a detailed description of the methods, please refer to each individual paper.

#### Ethical considerations

Samples were obtained from normal human subjects in papers **I**, **II** and **III**. Informed written consent was obtained from these healthy adult volunteers. The studies were conducted according to the guidelines of the Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the Ethics Committee of the Medical Faculty, Lund University.

An animal model was used in papers **I**, **II**, **III** and **IV**. All animal experiments were approved by the animal ethics committee of Lund University in accordance to the guidelines of the Swedish National Board of Agriculture and the European Union directive for the protection of animals used for scientific research.

#### Flow cytometry

In papers I and II, flow cytometry was used to analyze EVs. Flow cytometry is a well-established research tool to characterize particles based on physical and chemical composition. Particles flow in a streamline motion where a single particle passes through a laser beam. Each particle is analyzed based on its light scattering ability. The light scattered is measured in two directions, forward scatter (FSC) that is indicative of its size and side scatter (SSC) that is indicative of the granularity of the particle. This method can be coupled to fluorescent proteins to characterize the particles even further. In this thesis, flow cytometry was used to identify membrane bound receptors and the cellular origin of EVs using fluorescently labelled antibodies. Intravesicular components, such as Stx within EVs were analyzed using detergent to permeabilize the EV membrane.

#### Cell culture

Cervical epithelial (HeLa) cells were used in papers I, II and III, human monocyte (THP1) and murine monocyte (RAW264.7) cells were used in paper I, primary human umbilical vein endothelial (HUVEC) and primary glomerular endothelial (pGEC) cells were used in paper III.

#### Viability assay studying cell metabolism

The viability of cells was quantified as a measure of metabolic activity using alamar blue in papers I, II and III. A shift in color of alamar blue occurs when it is reduced by NADH and NADPH. Measurements were carried out on cells treated in the presence or absence of: anxA5 in paper I, NF449 (P2X1 inhibitor) in paper II, apyrase in paper III and exposed to free Stx or without Stx.

#### Protein synthesis assay

In paper II, protein synthesis was assayed in cells treated with or without NF449 and certain cells were exposed to Stx1. Protein synthesis was quantified by the amount of radioactive labelled methionine that is incorporated. The incorporation of methionine was measured using a scintillator, the generated signal was in proportion to the amount of protein synthesized.

#### Caspase activity assay

Caspase activity was assayed in paper **II**. The activity of terminal caspase 3/7 is quantified as a measure of cleaved substrate indicating that caspase 3/7 are activated which can in turn cleave a membrane permeable substrate that the cells have been treated with. This cleaved substrate generates green fluorescence upon excitation by blue laser. Cells undergoing apoptosis appear green in color. HeLa cells treated with or without NF449 in the presence of Stx were used in this assay.

#### ATP determination

Luciferase activity was used for ATP measurements in papers II and III. Luciferase is an enzyme obtained from fireflies, which is used as a catalyst to cleave ATP. This catalytic reaction led to light emission, in direct proportion to the ATP generated. ATP was assayed in HeLa cells supernatants in paper II and in mouse feces from EHEC-infected mice in paper III.

#### Calcium imaging

HeLa cells and human platelets were stained with a calcium sensitive fluorescent dye, Fluo-4 in paper II. This dye is cell-permeable and is cleaved upon entering the cell, thus losing its permeability property. Fluo-4 is brighter in the presence of a high calcium concentration. Calcium influx was quantified as a measure of fluorescence in Fluo-4 stained HeLa cells stimulated with Stx and in platelets stimulated with LPS and Stx.

#### In vitro platelet aggregation

Platelet aggregation was studied using optical light transmission aggregometry in paper III. Platelet-rich plasma from healthy volunteers were incubated with buffer alone, apyrase alone, LPS and Stx2 and LPS and Stx2 and apyrase for 5 mins prior to addition of collagen to induce platelet aggregation. Platelet poor-plasma is used to set the maximum amount of light being transmitted. The amount of light transmitted through the platelet rich-plasma was used as a measure of platelet aggregation.

#### Mouse models

A mouse model was used in papers I, II, III and IV. Mice were treated with streptomycin in drinking water, in order to reduce the normal gut microflora and improve colonization of streptomycin-resistant *E. coli* O157:H7 (Stx-producing strain, 86-24). Mice were fasted for food but not water for 16 hours before bacterial inoculation to further improve colonization. Mice were inoculated with the streptomycin-resistant *E. coli* O157:H7 strain ( $10^9$  colony forming units/mL). Weight changes, bacterial colonization and development of clinical signs of disease were monitored throughout the experiment. Upon development of clinical signs of disease, >20% weight loss or at a predetermined end-point, the mice were sacrificed and blood was drawn, kidney and intestine were harvested (Figure 6).



Figure 6: Schematic representation of an in vivo model of E. coli O157:H7 infection.

In paper II, mice were also intraperitoneally injected with pure Stx2 (285, 142.5 and 71,25 ng/kg). The mice were monitored as above and samples were collected upon sacrifice.

#### Blood urea nitrogen

Kidney function impairment was investigated by measurement of BUN levels in mouse plasma. This analysis was conducted in papers I, III and IV.

#### Light microscopy

Murine kidney and intestine tissue were stained with hematoxylin and eosin or periodic acid-Schiff to visualize different tissue components using light microscopy in paper **III** and **IV**.

#### Immunofluorescence

Immunofluorescent staining was performed in murine renal sections. In paper I, murine renal tissue was stained with antibodies against fibrinogen.

#### TUNEL assay

In paper III, colons from mice, treated with or without apyrase were stained for apoptotic cells. Apoptotic cells incorporated alkyne tagged deoxyuridine triphosphate into the fragments of DNA and these alkyne groups were in turn tagged to a fluorescent probe. The renal tissues were analyzed using fluorescence microscopy.

#### Liquid chromatography-Mass spectrometry

Liquid chromatography is a technique widely used to separate compounds based on their interaction with the stationary and mobile phase. Mass spectrometry is an analytical technique used to quantify or detect the presence of specific proteins in a sample based on the mass-to-charge ratio. First the samples are subjected to chromatographic separation, followed by which the samples are eluted and ionized in an ionization source and introduced into the mass analyzer. Here, the ions are either in an electric or magnetic field, where they are deflect based on their massto-charge ration and are detected by the ion detector. Mass spectrometers are connected to computer-based software platforms, which measures ion oscillation frequencies and are used to acquire mass spectra using image current detection. This acquired data is then fed to a data analysis program that detects ions and organizes them based on their individual mass-to-charge ratios and relative abundance in the samples. Based on its mass-to-charge ratios, ions can be identified using a database to predict the identity of the molecule. In paper I, mass spectrometry was used for detection of Stx2 in E. coli O157:H7-infected murine renal tissue. In paper IV, proteins in E. coli O157:H7 culture filtrates that interacted with either murine or human IgG were thereby identified.

# Results

#### Paper I

AnxA5 treatment of blood- or HeLa cell-derived EVs induced an increase in cellular uptake by differentiated human monocytic cells (THP1) and murine macrophage cells (RAW264.7), respectively. AnxA5 had no effect on EV uptake when the recipient phagocytic cells were treated with anxA5, only EVs treated with anxA5 induced phagocytic uptake. HeLa cell-derived EVs induced an increase in PS exposure on RAW264.7 cells compared to the untreated cells which could explain the mechanism of interaction with anxA5-coated EVs.

The effect of intraperitoneal administration of anxA5 in an *in vivo* murine model of *E. coli* O157:H7 infection was investigated. Elevated levels of PS-positive EVs were detected in mice after *E. coli* O157:H7 inoculation before development of clinical signs of disease suggesting that murine EVs can bind anxA5.

*E. coli* O157:H7-infected mice developed clinical signs of disease from day 4 onwards. Mice treated with anxA5 (100  $\mu$ g/kg) developed clinical signs of disease on days 6-7 and when treated with a higher concentration of anxA5 (500  $\mu$ g/kg) developed clinical signs of disease on days 6-9. Thus, the effect of anxA5 on delaying developed of disease symptoms was dose-dependent.

No difference in bacterial colonization was observed between anxA5-treated and untreated mice. AnxA5 did not protect from kidney injury detected by elevated BUN as these measurements were either taken before the development of fulminant disease or after, when mice already had clinical disease.

In order to confirm that anxA5 treatment reached the circulation, plasma anxA5 levels were quantified. Mice treated with anxA5 had significantly higher levels of plasma anxA5 when compared to vehicle-treated controls and *E. coli* O157:H7-infected mice.

Plasma samples were also analyzed for levels of platelet-derived EVs, showing significantly lower levels of platelet-derived EVs in anxA5-treated *E. coli* O157:H7-infected mice when compared to vehicle-treated infected mice. This could explain the delay in development of symptoms, as EVs transport Stx to the kidney and fewer EVs would result in lower burden in the target organ.

#### Paper II

Stx1 (1  $\mu$ g/mL) induced the release of ATP from HeLa cells after 5 min. A significant increase in the levels of extracellular ATP was measured in Stx1-stimulated cells when compared to PBS-treated cells. Stimulation of HeLa cells with Stx1 (1  $\mu$ g/mL) for 40 min induced an increase in the levels of free extracellular phosphate when compared to PBS-treated cells. This indicates that Stx1 induces release of ATP that is degraded extracellularly.

In a murine model, intraperitoneal injection of Stx2 (285 and 142.5 ng/kg) induced the release of ATP. Plasma ATP levels were significantly higher in mice injected with Stx2 (142.5 ng/kg). ATP levels in mice injected with a lower dose of Stx2 (71.25 ng/kg) were similar to untreated mice. Stx1 induced steady calcium influx into HeLa cells over time and lasting up to 270 seconds. Calcium influx in HeLa cells was inhibited in the presence of both, a specific P2X1 receptor antagonist, NF449 (60  $\mu$ M) and a non-selective P2X antagonist, suramin (200  $\mu$ M). Similarly, NF449 (60  $\mu$ M) inhibited calcium influx induced by O157LPS (1  $\mu$ g/mL) together with Stx1 or Stx2 (1  $\mu$ g/mL) in human platelets.

The P2X1 antagonist NF449 (60  $\mu$ M) did not affect the retrograde transport of Stx1B (1  $\mu$ g/mL) to the ER in HeLa cells. Preincubation of HeLa cells with NF449 (60  $\mu$ M) one hour prior to stimulation with Stx1 or Stx2 (7 ng/mL) for 24 hours protected cells from Stx-induced cytotoxicity as detected by metabolism and uptake of alamar blue. Likewise, the HeLa cells were protected from the effects of Stx1 on inhibition of protein synthesis when preincubated with NF449 for 30 min following incubation with Stx1 (7 ng/mL) for 4 hours. NF449 also had a protective effect on toxin-induced caspase activation in HeLa cells. Targeted silencing of the P2X1 receptor in HeLa cells confirmed that purinergic signaling contributed to caspase activation by Stx1.

The role of purinergic signaling in release of EVs was investigated in HeLa cells and platelets. Stx1B (130 ng/mL) induced the release of EVs from HeLa cells *in vitro*. In the presence of NF449 EV release was reduced, but statistical significance was not found. HeLa cell-derived EVs that were Stx1B-positive were significantly decreased in the presence of NF449. In platelets, both Stx1 or Stx2 (200 ng/mL) induced release of toxin-positive EVs. EV release induced by Stx2 was significantly reduced in the presence of NF449. Taken together the results indicate that ATP functions as a secondary messenger. ATP induces calcium influx by way of purinergic signaling. Purinergic signaling blockade protected against Stx-induced cytotoxicity and inhibited EV release both from HeLa cells and platelets particularly toxin-positive EVs.

Intraperitoneal injection of Stx2 (285 ng/kg) induced an increase in the release of platelet-derived and Stx2-positive EVs which were significantly reduced by treatment with suramin (60 mg/kg) administered intraperitoneally 16 hours before Stx2 injection. Additionally, EHEC inoculated mice had significantly higher

platelet-derived and Stx2-positive EVs also inhibited by suramin (20 mg/kg) pretreatment administered intraperitoneally 1 hour before inoculation.

The collective results show that Stx mediates crucial effects such as calcium influx, decreased viability, induced apoptosis and EV release via ATP release and secondary purinergic signaling.

### Paper III

Experiments were designed to assess the effects of apyrase in *E. coli* O157:H7 infection in mice. *E. coli* O157:H7-infected and PBS-treated mice developed symptoms starting from day 3, post-inoculation. Mice infected with *E. coli* O157:H7 and treated with apyrase (15 U/mouse) intraperitoneally on days 0 and 2 after inoculation developed symptoms from day 5, post-inoculation. This resulted in a significant difference in survival between the apyrase-treated and PBS-treated *E. coli* O157:H7-infected mice.

Apyrase-treated *E. coli* O157:H7-infected mice were protected from weight loss in comparison to PBS-treated infected mice. Separately, mice were sacrificed on day 2 to analyze histopathology, goblet cell depletion and apoptosis in the intestine. Apyrase-treated *E. coli* O157:H7-infected mice were protected from goblet cell depletion and apoptosis in the intestine, as detected by the TUNEL assay, compared to the PBS-treated infected mice.

ATP levels in fecal samples were measured on day 1 and 3 post-inoculation. ATP levels on day 1 were significantly lower in the apyrase-treated and infected mice when compared with PBS-treated *E. coli* O157:H7-infected mice. Stx2 was detected in feces on days 1 and 3 post-inoculation in the *E. coli* O157:H7-infected mice, showing a tendency to higher Stx2 levels in feces from PBS-treated *E. coli* O157:H7-infected mice.

Apyrase lowered Stx2 release from *E. coli* O157:H7 in culture. A similar effect was noted using exogenously administered ATP. Apyrase (10 U/mL) and exogenous ATP (3 mM) also had an effect on lowering RecA levels in *E. coli* O157:H7 bacterial cell lysate indicating an effect on the SOS response.

The effect of apyrase on host cells exposed to Stx2 was evaluated. Apyrase (1 U/mL) preincubated with LPS (1  $\mu$ g/mL) and Stx2 (200 ng/mL) significantly lowered collagen type-1-induced platelet aggregation. However, no protective effect of apyrase was detected on cell viability both in the case of HeLa and endothelial cells.

Taken together, apyrase had a protective effect on *E. coli* O157:H7-infected mice, lowering ATP release in the gut and protecting intestinal cells from damage most probably because it lowered Stx2 release from the bacteria. Additionally, apyrase decreased platelet activation and thereby had a dual effect both on the bacteria and on the host.

#### Paper IV

This study investigated the effect of IgG treatment of mice on *E. coli* O157:H7 infection and attempted to determine the mechanism by which IgG affected the course of infection. Intraperitoneal administration of murine IgG (1 mg/mouse) on day 3 and 6 post-inoculation significantly improved survival in mice when infected with *E. coli* O157:H7 compared to untreated mice. Similar results were found in mice treated only on day 3.

*E. coli* O157:H7-infected mice treated with IgG on day 3 showed significantly lower bacterial colonization on day 8. All mice infected with *E. coli* O157:H7 exhibited weight loss starting from day 5, while the infected and IgG treated on day 3 and 6 remained stable.

Mice were evaluated for intestinal pathology including inflammatory infiltrates and goblet cell depletion and renal pathology consisting of tubular epithelial desquamation. Mice infected and treated with IgG exhibited less goblet cell depletion and less tubular epithelial desquamation when compared to untreated mice.

Renal dysfunction was evaluated by the measurement of BUN. Infected and untreated mice exhibited elevated levels of BUN which was significantly lower in infected and IgG treated mice.

Both murine and human IgG bound to proteins present in *E. coli* O157:H7 culture filtrates. To identify the proteins that interacted with IgG, *E. coli* O157:H7 culture filtrates were separated on an immunoblot. Murine IgG detected six protein bands while human IgG detected seven proteins bands. Proteins corresponding to the detected bands were extracted in individual segments and these were then examined by mass spectrometry. EspP and translational elongation factor Tu were detected in five of the seven segments. EspP has been shown to contribute to bacterial virulence<sup>119</sup> and was further investigated. Binding of murine and human IgG to purified EspP was detected and mediated by the Fc fragment. This interaction between IgG and EspP was further confirmed by using a  $\Delta espP E$ . coli O157:H7 mutant lacking EspP.

The effect of IgG on enzymatic activity of EspP was investigated by pepsin cleavage using culture filtrates from both the wild-type and  $\Delta espP \ E. \ coli$  O157:H7 strains. Pepsin cleavage was achieved using the wild-type  $E. \ coli$  O157:H7 strain, as expected, and this cleavage was inhibited by both murine (5 µg) and human IgG (100 µg) after 16 hours of incubation.

Taken together this study shows that IgG can prevent disease in *E. coli* O157:H7infected mice, and that murine and human IgG, the latter commercial preparation, bind to EspP from *E. coli* O157:H7 blocking its enzymatic activity and may thereby affect its potential in bacterial virulence.

# Discussion

There are no effective means to prevent or treat EHEC-associated HUS once it has occurred. Antibiotic treatment during the prodromal diarrheal phase of EHEC infection may increase the risk of developing HUS by inducing bacteriolysis and the release of Stx. This thesis focused on four novel strategies to reduce bacterial colonization, neutralize bacterial virulence, and protect host cells. The first step in the establishment of severe EHEC infection is bacterial colonization of the gut. This was reduced by treatment with IgG, as shown in paper IV. Note, that the treatment was given after inoculation which would mimic the situation during human infection. EspP is a known EHEC virulence factor associated with bacterial adherence to the intestinal cell lining and IgG binding to EspP interfered with the enzymatic effect of EspP. After colonization, EHEC releases Stx. Reducing the release of bacterial toxin, would decrease host cell injury, both in the intestine and systemically. This was shown by administration of apyrase in paper III. Not only did apyrase affect Stx release from EHEC by decreasing RecA, it also had an antithrombotic effect as it reduced collagen-mediated platelet aggregation when combined with Stx2 and O157LPS. Within the circulation, Stx can bind to blood cells and be released within blood cell-derived EVs that have prothrombotic and proinflammatory potential (Figure 7). These EVs can contain the toxin and transport it to the kidney. The third approach used in this thesis was to inhibit the release of EVs by blocking the purinergic P2X1 receptor involved in calcium influx and EV release, as shown in paper II. Importantly, this treatment also inhibted the cytotoxic effects of Stx. Once EVs are released and circulate with toxin, a treatment that could remove these harmful EVs could also have a protective potential. This was shown in paper I, in which, anxA5 coating of EVs led to their phagocytic removal, and protected mice during EHEC infection. Taken together, the four separate nonantibiotic approaches studied, using in vivo and in vitro methods, could inhibit essential aspects of EHEC and Stx virulence.



#### Figure 7: Extracellular vesicles in EHEC-associated HUS.

Shiga toxin bound to Gb3 on blood cells, activates them and induces release of extracellular vesicles (EVs). These blood cell-derived EVs express phosphatidylserine (PS) and tissue factor. Some platelet and red blood cell-derived EVs express complement factors (C3 and C9). This figure is modified from<sup>207</sup> (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

Volume expansion has been shown to be protective during EHEC infection. A combination of volume expansion with a treatment that delays the onset of Stxmediated injury could prevent the development of severe HUS. Both anxA5 and apyrase resulted in a delay of disease onset. AnxA5 reduced systemic levels of prothrombotic EVs containing toxin while apyrase could reduce the real thrombotic effects on platelets. AnxA5 most probably delayed disease in mice by reducing the level of circulating toxin-positive EVs. Probable additional beneficial effects of anxA5 were not addressed here. AnxA5 was shown to have anti-inflammatory properties in an apoE<sup>(-/-)</sup> murine model of vascular inflammation by lowering leukocyte chemotaxis<sup>271</sup> and in a mouse model of endotoxemia by reducing cytokine release in response to LPS<sup>238</sup> and also inhibiting binding of LPS to TLR4.<sup>234</sup> Apyrase presumably delayed disease by reducing the SOS response and toxin release followed by a protective systemic effect on platelet activation.

The substances studied in this thesis have the potential to being used in humans. Trials with anxA5 are being conducted in healthy volunteers (<u>https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04850339</u>) as well as a treatment for COVID infection (<u>https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04748757</u>). Suramin is used as a treatment for parasite infection in humans.<sup>272</sup> Apyrase has been suggested as a treatment in humans for systemic inflammation, infections and wound healing during burns.<sup>273-275</sup> In line with this, a patent application for the route of

of administration apyrase in humans has been submitted (https://patents.justia.com/patent/20170333532). Herein apyrase was administered via the intraperitoneal route however this approach would not be appropriate during EHEC infection in humans as the gastrointestinal tract is inflamed, and thus other routes of administration should be investigated before a clinical trial can be planned. Intravenous and subcutaneous administration of IgG is already being used in the clinic for multiple indications. It could be a potential candidate for trials in patients with EHEC infection. Oral administration of IgG to patients with EHEC infection lead to reduced diarrhea<sup>219</sup> and could probably be protective during the early stages of infection. IgG has also been shown to have an effect on intestinal attachment of EHEC and colonization in mice.<sup>270</sup> These data indicate that IgG could be considered as a potential therapeutic and should be investigated further to identify the optimal route of administration and its effect on human EHEC infection should be assessed.

All animal models have their limitations. A critical assessment of the results presented here, that all contain the EHEC-infected mouse model, is addressed. This is especially important when comparing to the human disease. In humans, EHEC-induced gastrointestinal infection develops approximately 4 days after ingestion of the bacteria and, after an additional 3-7 days, HUS may develop in up to 15% of cases. Patients present with low platelet counts due to consumptive thrombocytopenia and platelet activation, which is due to toxin-induced activation of platelets and the endothelium,<sup>15, 34</sup> thus patients, at this point (about 10-14 days after ingestion of EHEC), cannot undergo intestinal or renal biopsy due to the serious risk of bleeding. Severe cases exhibit extensive intestinal damage showing hemorrhagic colitis, severe necrosis and erosions, while these indication of damage are hard to evaluate in milder cases.<sup>10</sup> In the most severe cases, the renal pathological lesion typically shows thrombotic microangiopathy and severe tubular injury.<sup>126, 276</sup>

The scientific humane approach to experiments involving animal will not allow research groups to follow severely ill animals for days and will therefore limit the duration of experimental procedure. In fact, our ethical permit requires that the mice should be sacrificed as soon as any symptoms develop. This aspect is applicable to understanding the differences between EHEC infections in human and animal, as we do not know at which point after development of initial symptoms (in humans) the pathological lesion develops. The pathological lesions are caused by systemic spread of Stx to target organs (as demonstrated in infected mice<sup>72, 147</sup>) as well as other virulence factors affecting the intestines.<sup>10</sup> The effect of toxin may be cumulative indicating that several days would be required in order to develop into fulminant thrombotic microangiopathy. The only animal models, in which this lesion has been demonstrated, either spontaneously or in a scientific setting, are baboons and dogs,<sup>146, 277</sup> which are harder to conduct intervention studies on.

Mice usually do not develop a spontaneous disease resembling HUS in humans after EHEC ingestion. For this reason, our group and others have established a variety of experimental settings that allow induction of disease leading to symptoms and

pathology of EHEC infection that strongly resemble the infection in humans. These include either a period of fasting prior to inoculation, administration of antibiotics to remove some of the intestinal microflora, administration of mitomycin (to release Stx) or the use of germ-free mice.<sup>278</sup> Certain models have been developed by treating mice with purified Stx with or without LPS. In this thesis, I used the first two settings as established in our lab previously, that is fasting and antibiotic (streptomycin) treatment before inoculation with *E. coli* O157:H7. Our group has demonstrated that mice infected with *E. coli* O157:H7 develop gastrointestinal, neurological, and renal symptoms, all resembling human disease.<sup>133, 147</sup> The infected mice have low red blood cell counts and fragmented red blood cells (as in humans), thrombocytopenia and renal failure, also characteristics features of HUS in humans.<sup>133, 147</sup> Furthermore, these mice also develop intestinal and renal lesions resembling human pathology<sup>21, 72</sup> although, as mentioned above, lesions in mice may not fully correspond to the severity of lesions as observed in humans as the infection persists for a much longer duration at the time when biopsies or autopsies are obtained.

However, mice do not develop thrombotic microangiopathy. Mice develop glomerular injury indicated by endothelial cell swelling and deposition of platelets<sup>132, 170, 171</sup> and fibrin deposition in glomeruli indicating thrombus formation<sup>133</sup> as well as glomerular cell apoptosis identical to that seen in humans after ingestion of EHEC.<sup>72, 77</sup> Both humans and mice develop identical tubular damage in the renal cortex<sup>72, 276</sup> along with severe tubular apoptosis. Lesions in the brain of sick mice corresponds to the damage seen in humans.<sup>279</sup> Taken together, the mouse model seems highly appropriate for the study of EHEC infection, with similar symptoms as well as renal and neurological lesions, and has been used in many studies addressing pathogen-mediated injury and the host response.

The importance of *E. coli* O157:H7 adhesins for colonization and pathogenesis has been demonstrated in mice.<sup>10, 278</sup> Several studies in mice have shown the importance of Stx for the virulence of EHEC strains.<sup>147, 280</sup> Our mouse model demonstrates the mechanism of Stx transfer from the intestine into the kidney within blood cell-derived EVs that are endocytosed by target organ cells (glomerular endothelial and tubular, both endothelial and epithelial cells) thus leading to cell death, as shown both, in patients and in mice.<sup>21</sup> Studies in mice have shown the importance of host response pathways such as the CXCR4/CXCR7/SDF-1 pathway<sup>171</sup> and LPS signaling,<sup>170</sup> diet<sup>281</sup> and anti-microbial peptides.<sup>36</sup> Mouse models have also been used to study therapeutic interventions such as targeted trafficking of Stx by administration of manganese,<sup>282</sup> usage of synthetic Retro compounds<sup>283, 284</sup> or blocking the toxin with antibodies.<sup>218</sup> The mouse model is thus highly suitable for the study of pathogen virulence and the host response, mimicking human disease.

Additionally, several *in vitro* assays involving endothelial and epithelial cells have been investigated in order to imitate different aspects of human *E. coli* O157:H7 infection. The expression levels of Gb3 on cells contributes to their susceptibility to Stx. In this thesis, HeLa cells have been used to investigate Stx-induced cell

activation and damage. Keeping in mind, that HeLa cells are cervical epithelial cells and not cells specific to the target organ, their usage should be assessed. HeLa cells have been shown to express the toxin receptor, Gb3 and that Stx binds to Gb3 via the B-subunit.<sup>285</sup> These cells have be shown to be highly sensitive to Stx and contribute to Stx-induced apoptosis.<sup>75</sup> Studies in HeLa cells suggest that Gb3 in not only required for Stx binding,<sup>57</sup> but is also essential for determining its route of intracellular transport. This indicates that, the association of Gb3 in lipid rafts could contribute to directing Stx towards retrograde transport.<sup>64</sup> These data suggest that HeLa cells that are sensitive to Stx could be used as a model to study Stx-mediated disease in vitro. In line with assessing the usage of HeLa cells in this thesis, in paper I, HeLa cells have been used as a source of EVs to investigate phagocytosis by murine phagocytes in the presence of anxA5. The effect of anxA5 on inducing phagocytosis was a proof of concept to show that this effect of anxA5 is most likely not dependent on the parent cell or the phagocyte and it is probably based on the interaction between the EV and the phagocyte. In the disease setting, elevated levels of EVs have been found in samples taken both from EHEC infected patients and mice infected with EHEC.<sup>21</sup> Thus usage of an *in vitro* set-up that was tailored to mimic the in vivo scenario occurring in a blood vessel would be relevant with regard to E. coli O157:H7 infection in humans. Thus, differentiated THP1 cells were combined with blood cell-derived EVs in the presence of anxA5 to mimic the in vivo scenario. Platelet activation has also been associated with EHEC-mediated HUS, making platelets a highly relevant cell type to study *in vitro*. Stx can activate and bind platelets<sup>126</sup> and in turn release of platelet-derived EVs induced by Stx was observed in paper II.<sup>21</sup> During EHEC infection, platelets, Stx and LPS can interact together. Stx and LPS have been found on platelets in patient samples and could induce platelet activation in vitro.<sup>15</sup> Stx induced calcium influx and EV release from platelets in paper II and a combination of Stx and O157LPS induced platelet aggregation in paper III. In summary, the *in vitro* models utilized in this thesis could be relevant in understanding the intracellular functioning of Stx and further its role in EHEC-associated HUS.

# Conclusions

- AnxA5 induces EV uptake by phagocytes *in vitro*. AnxA5-mediated clearance reduced circulating EVs, which during EHEC infection carry Stx, suggesting that a lower toxin burden will reach the kidney. AnxA5 delayed disease development in mice.
- Stx binding to cells induced release of ATP and subsequently leading to purinergic receptor activation. Stx-mediated calcium influx, cytotoxicity and EV release utilized ATP-mediated purinergic signaling via P2X receptors.
- Apyrase delayed disease development in EHEC-infected mice. It exerted a protective effect on the host with less goblet cell depletion and apoptosis of intestinal cells as well as less platelet activation in the presence of Stx2 and O157LPS. Apyrase also had an effect on *E. coli* O157:H7 which lead to a decrease in the release of Stx by a decrease in the SOS response. Apyrase was shown to have a protective effect both on reducing virulence of the bacterium and on the host cells. The latter most probably by reducing extracellular ATP.
- Administration of murine IgG to *E. coli* O157:H7-infected mice reduced colonization, improved survival and protected mice from renal and intestinal pathology. Both murine and human IgG bound to *E. coli* O157:H7 secreted protein, EspP *in vitro* via the Fc domain and inhibited its enzymatic activity. Thus IgG binds to EspP and may thereby exert a protective effect during *E. coli* O157:H7 infection.

# Acknowledgements

I would like to thank all the people who have helped me make this thesis possible.

I would especially like to thank:

**Diana**, my supervisor, thank you for your support, guidance and patience. I admire your work ethics, enthusiasm for science and always ready to learn attitude. I really appreciate the opportunity, trust and guidance you have given me in this competitive world of science. I am always astonished by your ability to know exactly which article drew what conclusion and who the authors are, its truly remarkable. All I can say is I am grateful for being nurtured under your wings.

**Ida**, my co-supervisor, thank you for the tremendous support and believing in me even when I doubted myself, and most importantly for making me a part of the glorious mouse team. I really cherish the numerous hours we spent in the animal house, discussing science and life's adventures. Thank you for your guidance and for always having my back. I owe all my knowledge and training of working with mice, to you.

**Ann-charlotte** thank you for being the most cheerful and joyous person I have ever met. I really appreciate the strong criticism and questions that I received from you. I appreciate all the help and encouragement you have given me during this journey. You are the soul of this group. You keep us all on our toes, making us better researchers.

**Kalle** thank you for never saying no, to letting me draw blood from you. Literally you are an essential part of my thesis. I really appreciate your company, liking for strange podcasts, cell lab jams and helping me get through my long extensive experiments. I really appreciate the encouraging word of wisdom you shared with me on your way out every day (of course I stayed longer) and over beers.

Annie thank you for being a great office-mate. I am glad to have formally met you on the day of our master's graduation. I am glad we have been able to have scientific and not so scientific discussions. Thank you for introducing me to shuffle board and overnight oats. Also thank you for making me part of your family with Anders and Casper.

**Sunna** thank you for giving me company during my long days in the lab. It was always a pleasure to have a chat with you on my way out and I really appreciate all the encouragement you gave me and for always checking up on me.

**Sara** you have truly been a big support during the last phase of this journey and I'm so glad you picked Sweden to do your study abroad period. I'm so glad I got to know you and for being a strong support system pushing me closer to the finish. I really appreciate you sitting with me through the evening and putting my sentence formation skills to a test and of course for finding my top favorite words and phrases.

**Sebastian and Milan** thank you for being part of the mouse team when we needed help. It was a pleasure to see you both work and learn from you.

**Niklas, Naila, Ingrid, Anne-lie, Zivile** thank you for sharing your knowledge and I'm glad to have had the opportunity to have gotten to know you all.

**Ramesh** I still remember the first time I spoke to you when you found out that I had contacted Diana for a PhD. I really appreciate the conversations we shared and the encouragement you gave me.

**Charlotte Welinder** thank you for giving me the opportunity to work alongside you and for being kind, helpful and patient with me while teaching me about LC-MS.

**Eva** thank you for being so helpful, kind and generous. It has been a pleasure to have had the opportunity to work with you.

**Jill, Linn, Philaiphon** it's been a great pleasure to have been your neighbor. Thank you for the always refreshing small chats, be it in the corridor or the lunch room.

**Johan** thank you for trusting me in drawing blood from you for my experiments. I really enjoyed our numerous conversations over fika (even though you always thought I was on a vacation) and a little competition in the game of paddle.

**John** thank you for always having a question for me either at a presentation or during coffee, always kept my mind going. Also thank you for making me part of your extended lab family.

Amal, Abd, Melissa, Gloria, Geneviéve, thank you for all the hiking, camping, impromptu beach trips and dinners that helped me be active and social, outside of the lab.

**Maria**, **Itzia**, **Michael** thank you for giving me the opportunity to take my first step into academia in Sweden and also for introducing me to animal work. I really appreciate all the knowledge and skill sets I have learnt from you all.

**Caroline** I have no idea where to start. Thank you for being there literally whenever I needed you. It was great to have someone to listen to my continues ranting about literally everything under the roof. I am really happy to say that we have been in this together, right from the start, in A10 and up until now. We finally made it.

**Joy and Konjit** thank you Joy for leading the path for Konjit and me to follow. It was great to have you both right on the other side of the corridor where I could drop by for a chat and would always be greeted with a smile and a warm hug.

**Ilaria** thank you for listening to all my science talks. I really appreciate you listening to my practice presentations and also the actual presentation despite your lack of knowledge in this field. Thank you for keeping me updated about current affairs and also just being there as family.

**Maggie, Jonas, Emelie, Judith** thank you for the support and encouragement. You all really turned out to be my international family in Sweden.

**The crew** thank you for all the support and thinking I'm a cool nerd. Thank you for letting me stick to my early bedtime when needed and also for keeping me awake beyond my schedule.

**Friends and family from India (both living abroad and back home)** thank you for believing in me and supporting me throughout this journey.

**Ma, Pa, Sagar and Preeti** thank you for believing in me and allowing me to pursue my passion. I was always challenged by the discussions we have shared, be it about statistics or the process of publishing. It was always reassuring to see that you were all proud of me and pushed me to believe in myself and to trust the process.

Aniruddha thank you for keeping your ears open to all the random nonsense and maybe some scientific information that I imparted on you. Thank you for the constant support and encouragement and always knowing how to make me laugh when I am terribly mad after an exhausting day in the lab.

Last but not the least, I would like to thank **Mui Gong**, that I could always count on for delicious food to keep me going during my long experiments and also to cheer me up from a tiring day.

# References

- 1. Karmali MA, Steele BT, Petric M, *et al.* Sporadic cases of haemolytic-uraemic syndrome associated with faecal cytotoxin and cytotoxin-producing *Escherichia coli* in stools. *Lancet* 1983; **1:** 619-620.
- 2. Karpman D, Loos S, Tati R, *et al.* Haemolytic uraemic syndrome. *J Intern Med* 2017; **281:** 123-148.
- 3. McKee ML, O'Brien AD. Investigation of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 adherence characteristics and invasion potential reveals a new attachment pattern shared by intestinal *E. coli. Infect Immun* 1995; **63**: 2070-2074.
- 4. Newland JW, Neill RJ. DNA probes for Shiga-like toxins I and II and for toxinconverting bacteriophages. *J Clin Microbiol* 1988; **26**: 1292-1297.
- 5. Datz M, Janetzki-Mittmann C, Franke S, *et al.* Analysis of the enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157 DNA region containing lambdoid phage gene p and Shiga-like toxin structural genes. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 1996; **62**: 791-797.
- 6. Endo Y, Tsurugi K, Yutsudo T, *et al.* Site of action of a Vero toxin (VT2) from *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and of Shiga toxin on eukaryotic ribosomes. RNA N-glycosidase activity of the toxins. *Eur J Biochem* 1988; **171:** 45-50.
- Lingwood CA, Law H, Richardson S, et al. Glycolipid binding of purified and recombinant *Escherichia coli* produced verotoxin in vitro. *J Biol Chem* 1987; 262: 8834-8839.
- 8. Tyrrell GJ, Ramotar K, Toye B, *et al.* Alteration of the carbohydrate binding specificity of Verotoxins from Gal alpha 1-4Gal to GalNAc beta 1-3Gal alpha 1-4Gal and vice versa by site-directed mutagenesis of the binding subunit. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 1992; **89:** 524-528.
- 9. Sandvig K, Garred O, Prydz K, *et al.* Retrograde transport of endocytosed Shiga toxin to the endoplasmic reticulum. *Nature* 1992; **358:** 510-512.
- 10. Békássy ZD, Calderon Toledo C, Leoj G, et al. Intestinal damage in enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli infection. Pediatr Nephrol 2011; 26: 2059-2071.

- 11. Fontaine A, Arondel J, Sansonetti PJ. Role of Shiga toxin in the pathogenesis of bacillary dysentery, studied by using a Tox- mutant of *Shigella dysenteriae* 1. *Infect Immun* 1988; **56:** 3099-3109.
- 12. Brigotti M, Tazzari PL, Ravanelli E, *et al.* Clinical relevance of Shiga toxin concentrations in the blood of patients with hemolytic uremic syndrome. *Pediatr Infect Dis J* 2011; **30**: 486-490.
- 13. Cooling LL, Walker KE, Gille T, *et al.* Shiga toxin binds human platelets via globotriaosylceramide (Pk antigen) and a novel platelet glycosphingolipid. *Infect Immun* 1998; **66**: 4355-4366.
- 14. Ståhl AL, Sartz L, Nelsson A, *et al.* Shiga toxin and lipopolysaccharide induce platelet-leukocyte aggregates and tissue factor release, a thrombotic mechanism in hemolytic uremic syndrome. *PLoS One* 2009; **4:** e6990.
- 15. Karpman D, Papadopoulou D, Nilsson K, *et al.* Platelet activation by Shiga toxin and circulatory factors as a pathogenetic mechanism in the hemolytic uremic syndrome. *Blood* 2001; **97:** 3100-3108.
- 16. van Setten PA, Monnens LA, Verstraten RG, *et al.* Effects of Verocytotoxin-1 on nonadherent human monocytes: binding characteristics, protein synthesis, and induction of cytokine release. *Blood* 1996; **88:** 174-183.
- 17. Te Loo DMWM, Hinsbergh VWMV, Heuvel LPWJVD, *et al.* Detection of Verocytotoxin bound to circulating polymorphonuclear leukocytes of patients with hemolytic uremic syndrome. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 2001; **12**: 800-806.
- 18. Brigotti M, Carnicelli D, Ravanelli E, *et al.* Interactions between Shiga toxins and human polymorphonuclear leukocytes. *J Leukoc Biol* 2008; **84:** 1019-1027.
- 19. Bitzan M, Richardson S, Huang C, *et al.* Evidence that Verotoxins (Shiga-like toxins) from *Escherichia coli* bind to P blood group antigens of human erythrocytes in vitro. *Infect Immun* 1994; **62**: 3337-3347.
- Arvidsson I, Ståhl AL, Hedstrom MM, *et al.* Shiga toxin-induced complementmediated hemolysis and release of complement-coated red blood cell-derived microvesicles in hemolytic uremic syndrome. *J Immunol* 2015; **194**: 2309-2318.
- 21. Ståhl AL, Arvidsson I, Johansson KE, *et al.* A novel mechanism of bacterial toxin transfer within host blood cell-derived microvesicles. *PLoS Pathog* 2015; **11:** e1004619.
- 22. Ståhl AL, Johansson K, Mossberg M, *et al.* Exosomes and microvesicles in normal physiology, pathophysiology, and renal diseases. *Pediatr Nephrol* 2019; **34:** 11-30.

- 23. Kimmitt PT, Harwood CR, Barer MR. Toxin gene expression by shiga toxinproducing *Escherichia coli*: the role of antibiotics and the bacterial SOS response. *Emerg Infect Dis* 2000; **6**: 458-465.
- 24. Wong CS, Jelacic S, Habeeb RL, *et al.* The risk of the hemolytic-uremic syndrome after antibiotic treatment of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 infections. *N Engl J Med* 2000; **342:** 1930-1936.
- 25. Beutin L, Geier D, Steinrück H, *et al.* Prevalence and some properties of Verotoxin (Shiga-like toxin)-producing *Escherichia coli* in seven different species of healthy domestic animals. *J Clin Microbiol* 1993; **31:** 2483-2488.
- Lewis SB, Cook V, Tighe R, et al. Enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli colonization of human colonic epithelium in vitro and ex vivo. Infect Immun 2015; 83: 942-949.
- 27. Wells JG, Davis BR, Wachsmuth IK, *et al.* Laboratory investigation of hemorrhagic colitis outbreaks associated with a rare *Escherichia coli* serotype. *J Clin Microbiol* 1983; **18:** 512-520.
- 28. Karmali MA, Mascarenhas M, Shen S, *et al.* Association of genomic O island 122 of *Escherichia coli* EDL 933 with Verocytotoxin-producing *Escherichia coli* seropathotypes that are linked to epidemic and/or serious disease. *J Clin Microbiol* 2003; **41:** 4930-4940.
- 29. Wolff C, Nisan I, Hanski E, *et al.* Protein translocation into host epithelial cells by infecting enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli*. *Mol Microbiol* 1998; **28**: 143-155.
- 30. Vingadassalom D, Kazlauskas A, Skehan B, *et al.* Insulin receptor tyrosine kinase substrate links the *E. coli* O157:H7 actin assembly effectors Tir and EspF(U) during pedestal formation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 2009; **106:** 6754-6759.
- 31. Campellone KG, Robbins D, Leong JM. EspFU is a translocated EHEC effector that interacts with Tir and N-WASP and promotes Nck-independent actin assembly. *Dev Cell* 2004; **7:** 217-228.
- 32. DeVinney R, Stein M, Reinscheid D, *et al.* Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 produces Tir, which is translocated to the host cell membrane but is not tyrosine phosphorylated. *Infect Immun* 1999; **67:** 2389-2398.
- 33. Garmendia J, Phillips AD, Carlier MF, *et al.* TccP is an enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 type III effector protein that couples Tir to the actincytoskeleton. *Cell Microbiol* 2004; **6:** 1167-1183.
- 34. Zoja C, Buelli S, Morigi M. Shiga toxin-associated hemolytic uremic syndrome: pathophysiology of endothelial dysfunction. *Pediatr Nephrol* 2010; **25**: 2231-2240.
- 35. Karpman D, Ståhl AL. Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* pathogenesis and the host response. *Microbiol Spectr* 2014; **2**.
- Chromek M, Arvidsson I, Karpman D. The antimicrobial peptide cathelicidin protects mice from *Escherichia coli* O157:H7-mediated disease. *PLoS One* 2012; 7: e46476.
- 37. Meyer-Hoffert U, Hornef MW, Henriques-Normark B, *et al.* Secreted enteric antimicrobial activity localises to the mucus surface layer. *Gut* 2008; **57**: 764-771.
- Sperandio V, Torres AG, Giron JA, *et al.* Quorum sensing is a global regulatory mechanism in enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. *J Bacteriol* 2001; 183: 5187-5197.
- 39. Sperandio V, Torres AG, Jarvis B, *et al.* Bacteria-host communication: the language of hormones. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 2003; **100**: 8951-8956.
- 40. Njoroge J, Sperandio V. Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* virulence regulation by two bacterial adrenergic kinases, QseC and QseE. *Infect Immun* 2012; **80:** 688-703.
- 41. Clarke MB, Hughes DT, Zhu C, *et al.* The QseC sensor kinase: a bacterial adrenergic receptor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 2006; **103**: 10420-10425.
- 42. Hughes DT, Clarke MB, Yamamoto K, *et al.* The QseC adrenergic signaling cascade in enterohemorrhagic *E. coli* (EHEC). *PLoS Pathog* 2009; **5**: e1000553.
- 43. Reading NC, Torres AG, Kendall MM, *et al.* A novel two-component signaling system that activates transcription of an enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* effector involved in remodeling of host actin. *J Bacteriol* 2007; **189**: 2468-2476.
- 44. Kendall MM, Sperandio V. What a dinner party! Mechanisms and functions of interkingdom signaling in host-pathogen associations. *mBio* 2016; **7:** e01748.
- 45. Trofa AF, Ueno-Olsen H, Oiwa R, *et al.* Dr. Kiyoshi Shiga: discoverer of the dysentery bacillus. *Clin Infect Dis* 1999; **29:** 1303-1306.
- 46. O'Brien AD, Lively TA, Chang TW, *et al.* Purification of *Shigella dysenteriae* 1 (Shiga)-like toxin from *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 strain associated with haemorrhagic colitis. *Lancet* 1983; **2:** 573.
- 47. Strockbine NA, Marques LR, Newland JW, *et al.* Two toxin-converting phages from *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 strain 933 encode antigenically distinct toxins with similar biologic activities. *Infect Immun* 1986; **53:** 135-140.

- 48. Calderwood SB, Auclair F, Donohue-Rolfe A, *et al.* Nucleotide sequence of the Shiga-like toxin genes of *Escherichia coli*. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 1987; **84:** 4364-4368.
- 49. Shridhar PB, Siepker C, Noll LW, *et al.* Shiga toxin subtypes of non-O157 *Escherichia coli* serogroups isolated from cattle feces. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol* 2017; **7**: 121.
- 50. Karve SS, Weiss AA. Glycolipid binding preferences of Shiga toxin variants. *PLoS One* 2014; **9:** e101173.
- 51. O'Brien AD, Tesh VL, Donohue-Rolfe A, *et al.* Shiga toxin: biochemistry, genetics, mode of action, and role in pathogenesis. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol* 1992; **180**: 65-94.
- 52. Müthing J, Meisen I, Zhang W, *et al.* Promiscuous Shiga toxin 2e and its intimate relationship to Forssman. *Glycobiology* 2012; **22**: 849-862.
- 53. Jacewicz MS, Mobassaleh M, Gross SK, *et al.* Pathogenesis of Shigella diarrhea: XVII. A mammalian cell membrane glycolipid, Gb3, is required but not sufficient to confer sensitivity to Shiga toxin. *J Infect Dis* 1994; **169:** 538-546.
- 54. Okuda T, Tokuda N, Numata S, *et al.* Targeted disruption of Gb3/CD77 synthase gene resulted in the complete deletion of globo-series glycosphingolipids and loss of sensitivity to Verotoxins. *J Biol Chem* 2006; **281:** 10230-10235.
- 55. Katagiri YU, Mori T, Nakajima H, *et al.* Activation of Src family kinase yes induced by Shiga toxin binding to globotriaosyl ceramide (Gb3/CD77) in low density, detergent-insoluble microdomains. *J Biol Chem* 1999; **274:** 35278-35282.
- 56. Kasahara K, Sanai Y. Functional roles of glycosphingolipids in signal transduction via lipid rafts. *Glycoconj J* 2000; **17:** 153-162.
- 57. Falguières T, Römer W, Amessou M, *et al.* Functionally different pools of Shiga toxin receptor, globotriaosyl ceramide, in HeLa cells. *FEBS J* 2006; **273**: 5205-5218.
- 58. Khan F, Proulx F, Lingwood CA. Detergent-resistant globotriaosyl ceramide may define Verotoxin/glomeruli-restricted hemolytic uremic syndrome pathology. *Kidney Int* 2009; **75:** 1209-1216.
- 59. Torgersen ML, Lauvrak SU, Sandvig K. The A-subunit of surface-bound Shiga toxin stimulates clathrin-dependent uptake of the toxin. *FEBS J* 2005; **272:** 4103-4113.

- 60. Renard HF, Garcia-Castillo MD, Chambon V, *et al.* Shiga toxin stimulates clathrinindependent endocytosis of the VAMP2, VAMP3 and VAMP8 SNARE proteins. *J Cell Sci* 2015; **128**: 2891-2902.
- 61. Römer W, Berland L, Chambon V, *et al.* Shiga toxin induces tubular membrane invaginations for its uptake into cells. *Nature* 2007; **450**: 670-675.
- 62. Renard HF, Simunovic M, Lemière J, *et al.* Endophilin-A2 functions in membrane scission in clathrin-independent endocytosis. *Nature* 2015; **517**: 493-496.
- 63. Sandvig K, Grimmer S, Lauvrak SU, *et al.* Pathways followed by ricin and Shiga toxin into cells. *Histochem Cell Biol* 2002; **117**: 131-141.
- 64. Falguières T, Mallard F, Baron C, *et al.* Targeting of Shiga toxin B-subunit to retrograde transport route in association with detergent-resistant membranes. *Mol Biol Cell* 2001; **12**: 2453-2468.
- 65. Bielaszewska M, Ruter C, Bauwens A, *et al.* Host cell interactions of outer membrane vesicle-associated virulence factors of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157: Intracellular delivery, trafficking and mechanisms of cell injury. *PLoS Pathog* 2017; **13**: e1006159.
- 66. Garred Ø, van Deurs B, Sandvig K. Furin-induced cleavage and activation of Shiga toxin. *J Biol Chem* 1995; **270:** 10817-10821.
- 67. Johannes L, Römer W. Shiga toxins--from cell biology to biomedical applications. *Nat Rev Microbiol* 2010; **8:** 105-116.
- 68. Tam PJ, Lingwood CA. Membrane cytosolic translocation of Verotoxin A1 subunit in target cells. *Microbiology* 2007; **153**: 2700-2710.
- 69. Reisbig R, Olsnes S, Eiklid K. The cytotoxic activity of Shigella toxin. Evidence for catalytic inactivation of the 60S ribosomal subunit. *J Biol Chem* 1981; **256**: 8739-8744.
- 70. Smith WE, Kane AV, Campbell ST, *et al.* Shiga toxin 1 triggers a ribotoxic stress response leading to p38 and JNK activation and induction of apoptosis in intestinal epithelial cells. *Infect Immun* 2003; **71:** 1497-1504.
- 71. Kodama T, Nagayama K, Yamada K, *et al.* Induction of apoptosis in human renal proximal tubular epithelial cells by *Escherichia coli* Verocytotoxin 1 in vitro. *Med Microbiol Immunol* 1999; **188:** 73-78.
- 72. Karpman D, Håkansson A, Perez MT, *et al.* Apoptosis of renal cortical cells in the hemolytic-uremic syndrome: in vivo and in vitro studies. *Infect Immun* 1998; **66**: 636-644.

- 73. Kojio S, Zhang H, Ohmura M, *et al.* Caspase-3 activation and apoptosis induction coupled with the retrograde transport of Shiga toxin: inhibition by brefeldin A. *FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol* 2000; **29:** 275-281.
- 74. Lee SY, Cherla RP, Caliskan I, *et al.* Shiga toxin 1 induces apoptosis in the human myelogenous leukemia cell line THP-1 by a caspase-8-dependent, tumor necrosis factor receptor-independent mechanism. *Infect Immun* 2005; **73:** 5115-5126.
- 75. Fujii J, Matsui T, Heatherly DP, *et al.* Rapid apoptosis induced by Shiga toxin in HeLa cells. *Infect Immun* 2003; **71:** 2724-2735.
- 76. Jones NL, Islur A, Haq R, *et al. Escherichia coli* Shiga toxins induce apoptosis in epithelial cells that is regulated by the Bcl-2 family. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 2000; **278:** G811-819.
- 77. Burlaka I, Liu XL, Rebetz J, *et al.* Ouabain protects against Shiga toxin-triggered apoptosis by reversing the imbalance between Bax and Bcl-xL. *JASN* 2013; **24:** 1413-1423.
- 78. Finucane DM, Bossy-Wetzel E, Waterhouse NJ, *et al.* Bax-induced caspase activation and apoptosis via cytochrome C release from mitochondria is inhibitable by Bcl-xL. *J Biol Chem* 1999; **274**: 2225-2233.
- 79. Cherla RP, Lee SY, Tesh VL. Shiga toxins and apoptosis. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* 2003; **228:** 159-166.
- 80. Erwert RD, Eiting KT, Tupper JC, *et al.* Shiga toxin induces decreased expression of the anti-apoptotic protein Mcl-1 concomitant with the onset of endothelial apoptosis. *Microb Pathog* 2003; **35:** 87-93.
- 81. Zoja C, Angioletti S, Donadelli R, *et al.* Shiga toxin-2 triggers endothelial leukocyte adhesion and transmigration via NF-kappaB dependent up-regulation of IL-8 and MCP-1. *Kidney Int* 2002; **62**: 846-856.
- 82. Tesh VL. Activation of cell stress response pathways by Shiga toxins. *Cell Microbiol* 2012; **14:** 1-9.
- 83. Park JY, Jeong YJ, Park SK, *et al.* Shiga toxins induce apoptosis and ER stress in human retinal pigment epithelial cells. *Toxins* 2017; **9**.
- 84. Lee SY, Lee MS, Cherla RP, *et al.* Shiga toxin 1 induces apoptosis through the endoplasmic reticulum stress response in human monocytic cells. *Cell Microbiol* 2008; **10:** 770-780.
- 85. Shimizu T, Ohta Y, Noda M. Shiga toxin 2 is specifically released from bacterial cells by two different mechanisms. *Infect Immun* 2009; 77: 2813-2823.

- Kolling GL, Matthews KR. Export of virulence genes and Shiga toxin by membrane vesicles of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 1999; 65: 1843-1848.
- 87. Kulp A, Kuehn MJ. Biological functions and biogenesis of secreted bacterial outer membrane vesicles. *Annu Rev Microbiol* 2010; **64:** 163-184.
- 88. Hurley BP, Jacewicz M, Thorpe CM, *et al.* Shiga toxins 1 and 2 translocate differently across polarized intestinal epithelial cells. *Infect Immun* 1999; **67**: 6670-6677.
- 89. Hurley BP, Thorpe CM, Acheson DW. Shiga toxin translocation across intestinal epithelial cells is enhanced by neutrophil transmigration. *Infect Immun* 2001; **69**: 6148-6155.
- 90. Lukyanenko V, Malyukova I, Hubbard A, *et al.* Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* infection stimulates Shiga toxin 1 macropinocytosis and transcytosis across intestinal epithelial cells. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 2011; **301**: C1140-1149.
- 91. Schüller S, Frankel G, Phillips AD. Interaction of Shiga toxin from *Escherichia coli* with human intestinal epithelial cell lines and explants: Stx2 induces epithelial damage in organ culture. *Cell Microbiol* 2004; **6**: 289-301.
- 92. Shigeno T, Akamatsu T, Fujimori K, *et al.* The clinical significance of colonoscopy in hemorrhagic colitis due to enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 infection. *Endoscopy* 2002; **34:** 311-314.
- 93. Ludwig K, Bitzan M, Bobrowski C, *et al. Escherichia coli* O157 fails to induce a long-lasting lipopolysaccharide-specific, measurable humoral immune response in children with hemolytic-uremic syndrome. *J Infect Dis* 2002; **186**: 566-569.
- 94. Proulx F, Seidman E, Mariscalco MM, *et al.* Increased circulating levels of lipopolysaccharide binding protein in children with *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 hemorrhagic colitis and hemolytic uremic syndrome. *Clin Diagn Lab Immunol* 1999; **6**: 773.
- 95. Latz E, Visintin A, Lien E, *et al.* Lipopolysaccharide rapidly traffics to and from the Golgi apparatus with the toll-like receptor 4-MD-2-CD14 complex in a process that is distinct from the initiation of signal transduction. *J Biol Chem* 2002; **277**: 47834-47843.
- 96. Pugin J, Schürer-Maly CC, Leturcq D, *et al.* Lipopolysaccharide activation of human endothelial and epithelial cells is mediated by lipopolysaccharide-binding protein and soluble CD14. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 1993; **90:** 2744-2748.
- 97. Dobrovolskaia MA, Vogel SN. Toll receptors, CD14, and macrophage activation and deactivation by LPS. *Microbes Infect* 2002; **4:** 903-914.

- 98. Akashi-Takamura S, Miyake K. TLR accessory molecules. *Curr Opin Immunol* 2008; **20**: 420-425.
- 99. Clayton F, Pysher TJ, Lou R, *et al.* Lipopolysaccharide upregulates renal Shiga toxin receptors in a primate model of hemolytic uremic syndrome. *Am J Nephrol* 2005; **25:** 536-540.
- Barrett TJ, Potter ME, Wachsmuth IK. Bacterial endotoxin both enhances and inhibits the toxicity of Shiga-like toxin II in rabbits and mice. *Infect Immun* 1989; 57: 3434-3437.
- Zanchi C, Zoja C, Morigi M, *et al.* Fractalkine and CX3CR1 mediate leukocyte capture by endothelium in response to Shiga toxin. *J Immunol* 2008; 181: 1460-1469.
- 102. Palermo M, Alves-Rosa F, Rubel C, *et al.* Pretreatment of mice with lipopolysaccharide (LPS) or IL-1beta exerts dose-dependent opposite effects on Shiga toxin-2 lethality. *Clin Exp Immunol* 2000; **119:** 77-83.
- 103. Louise CB, Obrig TG. Shiga toxin-associated hemolytic uremic syndrome: combined cytotoxic effects of Shiga toxin and lipopolysaccharide (endotoxin) on human vascular endothelial cells in vitro. *Infect Immun* 1992; **60**: 1536-1543.
- 104. Ståhl AL, Svensson M, Mörgelin M, *et al.* Lipopolysaccharide from enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* binds to platelets through TLR4 and CD62 and is detected on circulating platelets in patients with hemolytic uremic syndrome. *Blood* 2006; **108:** 167-176.
- 105. Fullard JF. The role of the platelet glycoprotein IIb/IIIa in thrombosis and haemostasis. *Curr Pharm Des* 2004; **10**: 1567-1576.
- 106. Guessous F, Marcinkiewicz M, Polanowska-Grabowska R, *et al.* Shiga toxin 2 and lipopolysaccharide cause monocytic THP-1 cells to release factors which activate platelet function. *Thromb Haemost* 2005; **94:** 1019-1027.
- 107. Guessous F, Marcinkiewicz M, Polanowska-Grabowska R, et al. Shiga toxin 2 and lipopolysaccharide induce human microvascular endothelial cells to release chemokines and factors that stimulate platelet function. Infect Immun 2005; 73: 8306-8316.
- 108. Bomberger JM, Maceachran DP, Coutermarsh BA, et al. Long-distance delivery of bacterial virulence factors by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* outer membrane vesicles. *PLoS Pathog* 2009; 5: e1000382.
- 109. Aldick T, Bielaszewska M, Uhlin BE, *et al.* Vesicular stabilization and activity augmentation of enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* haemolysin. *Mol Microbiol* 2009; **71:** 1496-1508.

- 110. Vanaja SK, Russo AJ, Behl B, *et al.* Bacterial outer membrane vesicles mediate cytosolic localization of LPS and caspase-11 activation. *Cell* 2016; **165**: 1106-1119.
- 111. Urashima A, Sanou A, Yen H, *et al.* Enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* produces outer membrane vesicles as an active defence system against antimicrobial peptide LL-37. *Cell Microbiol* 2017; **19**.
- 112. Bielaszewska M, Rüter C, Kunsmann L, *et al.* Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* hemolysin employs outer membrane vesicles to target mitochondria and cause endothelial and epithelial apoptosis. *PLoS Pathog* 2013; **9**: e1003797.
- 113. Kim SH, Lee YH, Lee SH, *et al.* Mouse model for hemolytic uremic syndrome induced by outer membrane vesicles of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. *FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol* 2011; **63:** 427-434.
- 114. Frankel G, Phillips AD, Rosenshine I, *et al.* Enteropathogenic and enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli*: more subversive elements. *Mol Microbiol* 1998; **30**: 911-921.
- Ruiz-Perez F, Nataro JP. Bacterial serine proteases secreted by the autotransporter pathway: classification, specificity, and role in virulence. *Cell Mol Life Sci* 2014; 71: 745-770.
- 116. Dziva F, Mahajan A, Cameron P, *et al.* EspP, a Type V-secreted serine protease of enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7, influences intestinal colonization of calves and adherence to bovine primary intestinal epithelial cells. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* 2007; **271:** 258-264.
- 117. Tse CM, In JG, Yin J, *et al.* Enterohemorrhagic *E. coli* (EHEC)-secreted serine protease EspP stimulates electrogenic ion transport in human colonoid monolayers. *Toxins* 2018; **10**.
- 118. Khan AB, Naim A, Orth D, *et al.* Serine protease espP subtype  $\alpha$ , but not  $\beta$  or  $\gamma$ , of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* is associated with highly pathogenic serogroups. *Int J Med Microbiol Suppl* 2009; **299:** 247-254.
- 119. Brockmeyer J, Bielaszewska M, Fruth A, *et al.* Subtypes of the plasmid-encoded serine protease EspP in Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli*: distribution, secretion, and proteolytic activity. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 2007; **73**: 6351-6359.
- 120. Orth D, Ehrlenbach S, Brockmeyer J, et al. EspP, a serine protease of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli*, impairs complement activation by cleaving complement factors C3/C3b and C5. *Infect Immun* 2010; **78**: 4294-4301.

- 121. Brunder W, Schmidt H, Karch H. EspP, a novel extracellular serine protease of enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 cleaves human coagulation factor V. *Mol Microbiol* 1997; **24:** 767-778.
- 122. Ruggenenti P, Noris M, Remuzzi G. Thrombotic microangiopathy, hemolytic uremic syndrome, and thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura. *Kidney Int* 2001; **60**: 831-846.
- 123. Facorro G, Aguirre F, Florentin L, *et al.* Oxidative stress and membrane fluidity in erythrocytes from patients with hemolytic uremic syndrome. *Acta Physiol Pharmacol Ther Latinoam* 1997; **47:** 137-146.
- 124. Savage B, Almus-Jacobs F, Ruggeri ZM. Specific synergy of multiple substratereceptor interactions in platelet thrombus formation under flow. *Cell* 1998; **94:** 657-666.
- 125. Galli M, Grassi A, Barbui T. Platelet-derived microvesicles in thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura and hemolytic uremic syndrome. *Thromb Haemost* 1996; **75:** 427-431.
- 126. Karpman D, Manea M, Vaziri-Sani F, *et al.* Platelet activation in hemolytic uremic syndrome. *Semin Thromb Hemost* 2006; **32:** 128-145.
- 127. Uchida H, Kiyokawa N, Horie H, *et al.* The detection of Shiga toxins in the kidney of a patient with hemolytic uremic syndrome. *Pediatr Res* 1999; **45:** 133-137.
- 128. Chaisri U, Nagata M, Kurazono H, *et al.* Localization of Shiga toxins of enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* in kidneys of paediatric and geriatric patients with fatal haemolytic uraemic syndrome. *Microb Pathog* 2001; **31:** 59-67.
- 129. Fernandez GC, Gomez SA, Ramos MV, *et al.* The functional state of neutrophils correlates with the severity of renal dysfunction in children with hemolytic uremic syndrome. *Pediatr Res* 2007; **61:** 123-128.
- 130. Karpman D, Andreasson A, Thysell H, *et al.* Cytokines in childhood hemolytic uremic syndrome and thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura. *Pediatr Nephrol* 1995; **9:** 694-699.
- Arvidsson I, Rebetz J, Loos S, *et al.* Early terminal complement blockade and C6 deficiency are protective in enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli*-infected mice. *J Immunol* 2016; **197**: 1276-1286.
- 132. Morigi M, Galbusera M, Gastoldi S, *et al.* Alternative pathway activation of complement by Shiga toxin promotes exuberant C3a formation that triggers microvascular thrombosis. *J Immunol* 2011; **187:** 172-180.

- Calderon Toledo C, Rogers TJ, Svensson M, et al. Shiga toxin-mediated disease in MyD88-deficient mice infected with *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. *Am J Pathol* 2008; 173: 1428-1439.
- 134. Miyamoto Y, Iimura M, Kaper JB, *et al.* Role of Shiga toxin versus H7 flagellin in enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* signalling of human colon epithelium in vivo. *Cell Microbiol* 2006; **8**: 869-879.
- 135. Ledesma MA, Ochoa SA, Cruz A, *et al.* The hemorrhagic coli pilus (HCP) of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 is an inducer of proinflammatory cytokine secretion in intestinal epithelial cells. *PLoS One* 2010; **5:** e12127.
- 136. Dahan S, Busuttil V, Imbert V, *et al.* Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* infection induces interleukin-8 production via activation of mitogen-activated protein kinases and the transcription factors NF-kappaB and AP-1 in T84 cells. *Infect Immun* 2002; **70**: 2304-2310.
- 137. Westerholt S, Hartung T, Tollens M, *et al.* Inflammatory and immunological parameters in children with haemolytic uremic syndrome (HUS) and gastroenteritis-pathophysiological and diagnostic clues. *Cytokine* 2000; **12**: 822-827.
- 138. Fitzpatrick MM, Shah V, Trompeter RS, *et al.* Interleukin-8 and polymorphoneutrophil leucocyte activation in hemolytic uremic syndrome of childhood. *Kidney Int* 1992; **42**: 951-956.
- 139. Stearns-Kurosawa DJ, Oh SY, Cherla RP, *et al.* Distinct renal pathology and a chemotactic phenotype after enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* Shiga toxins in non-human primate models of hemolytic uremic syndrome. *Am J Pathol* 2013; **182**: 1227-1238.
- 140. Ghosh SA, Polanowska-Grabowska RK, Fujii J, *et al.* Shiga toxin binds to activated platelets. *J Thromb Haemost* 2004; **2:** 499-506.
- 141. Walters MD, Matthei IU, Kay R, *et al.* The polymorphonuclear leucocyte count in childhood haemolytic uraemic syndrome. *Pediatr Nephrol* 1989; **3:** 130-134.
- 142. Fernandez GC, Lopez MF, Gomez SA, *et al.* Relevance of neutrophils in the murine model of haemolytic uraemic syndrome: mechanisms involved in Shiga toxin type 2-induced neutrophilia. *Clin Exp Immunol* 2006; **146**: 76-84.
- Ramos MV, Mejias MP, Sabbione F, et al. Induction of neutrophil extracellular traps in Shiga toxin-associated hemolytic uremic syndrome. J Innate Immun 2016; 8: 400-411.
- 144. Spitalnik PF, Spitalnik SL. The P blood group system: biochemical, serological, and clinical aspects. *Transfus Med Rev* 1995; **9:** 110-122.

- 145. Taylor CM, Milford DV, Rose PE, *et al.* The expression of blood group P1 in postenteropathic haemolytic uraemic syndrome. *Pediatr Nephrol* 1990; **4:** 59-61.
- 146. Taylor FB, Jr., Tesh VL, DeBault L, *et al.* Characterization of the baboon responses to Shiga-like toxin: descriptive study of a new primate model of toxic responses to Stx-1. *Am J Pathol* 1999; **154**: 1285-1299.
- 147. Karpman D, Connell H, Svensson M, *et al.* The role of lipopolysaccharide and Shiga-like toxin in a mouse model of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 infection. *J Infect Dis* 1997; **175:** 611-620.
- 148. Calderon Toledo C, Arvidsson I, Karpman D. Cross-reactive protection against enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* infection by enteropathogenic *E. coli* in a mouse model. *Infect Immun* 2011; **79:** 2224-2233.
- 149. Wadolkowski EA, Burris JA, O'Brien AD. Mouse model for colonization and disease caused by enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. *Infect Immun* 1990; 58: 2438-2445.
- 150. Mohawk KL, Melton-Celsa AR, Zangari T, *et al.* Pathogenesis of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 strain 86-24 following oral infection of BALB/c mice with an intact commensal flora. *Microb Pathog* 2010; **48:** 131-142.
- 151. Isogai E, Isogai H, Kimura K, *et al.* Role of tumor necrosis factor alpha in gnotobiotic mice infected with an *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 strain. *Infect Immun* 1998; **66:** 197-202.
- 152. Aiba Y, Ishikawa H, Shimizu K, *et al.* Role of internalization in the pathogenicity of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* infection in a gnotobiotic murine model. *Microbiol Immunol* 2002; **46**: 723-731.
- 153. Taguchi H, Takahashi M, Yamaguchi H, *et al.* Experimental infection of germ-free mice with hyper-toxigenic enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7, strain 6. *J Med Microbiol* 2002; **51:** 336-343.
- 154. Eaton KA, Friedman DI, Francis GJ, *et al.* Pathogenesis of renal disease due to enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* in germ-free mice. *Infect Immun* 2008; **76**: 3054-3063.
- 155. Holgersson J, Jovall PA, Breimer ME. Glycosphingolipids of human large intestine: detailed structural characterization with special reference to blood group compounds and bacterial receptor structures. *J Biochem* 1991; **110**: 120-131.
- 156. Imai Y, Fukui T, Kurohane K, *et al.* Restricted expression of Shiga toxin binding sites on mucosal epithelium of mouse distal colon. *Infect Immun* 2003; **71:** 985-990.

- 157. Pijpers AHJM, Setten PAV, Heuvel L, *et al.* Verocytotoxin-induced apoptosis of human microvascular endothelial cells. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 2001; **12**: 767-778.
- Williams JM, Boyd B, Nutikka A, et al. A comparison of the effects of Verocytotoxin-1 on primary human renal cell cultures. *Toxicology letters* 1999; 105: 47-57.
- 159. Psotka MA, Obata F, Kolling GL, *et al.* Shiga toxin 2 targets the murine renal collecting duct epithelium. *Infect Immun* 2009; **77:** 959-969.
- 160. Zotta E, Lago N, Ochoa F, *et al.* Development of an experimental hemolytic uremic syndrome in rats. *Pediatr Nephrol* 2008; **23:** 559-567.
- 161. Sjogren R, Neill R, Rachmilewitz D, *et al.* Role of Shiga-like toxin I in bacterial enteritis: comparison between isogenic *Escherichia coli* strains induced in rabbits. *Gastroenterology* 1994; **106**: 306-317.
- 162. Sherman P, Soni R, Karmali M. Attaching and effacing adherence of Vero cytotoxin-producing *Escherichia coli* to rabbit intestinal epithelium in vivo. *Infect Immun* 1988; **56**: 756-761.
- 163. Ritchie JM, Thorpe CM, Rogers AB, *et al.* Critical roles for stx2, eae, and tir in enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli*-induced diarrhea and intestinal inflammation in infant rabbits. *Infect Immun* 2003; **71**: 7129-7139.
- 164. Garcia A, Bosques CJ, Wishnok JS, *et al.* Renal injury is a consistent finding in dutch belted rabbits experimentally infected with enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli. J Infect Dis* 2006; **193**: 1125-1134.
- 165. Gunzer F, Hennig-Pauka I, Waldmann KH, *et al.* Gnotobiotic piglets develop thrombotic microangiopathy after oral infection with enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli. Am J Clin Pathol* 2002; **118**: 364-375.
- 166. Stones DH, Fehr AGJ, Thompson L, *et al.* Zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) as a vertebrate model host to study colonization, pathogenesis, and transmission of foodborne *Escherichia coli* O157. *mSphere* 2017; **2**.
- 167. Woods JB, Schmitt CK, Darnell SC, *et al.* Ferrets as a model system for renal disease secondary to intestinal infection with *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and other Shiga toxin-producing *E. coli. J Infect Dis* 2002; **185:** 550-554.
- 168. Kang G, Pulimood AB, Koshi R, *et al.* A monkey model for enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* infection. *J Infect Dis* 2001; **184**: 206-210.
- 169. Berry J, Doyle MP, Schoeni JL. Colonization of chicken cecae by *Escherichia coli* associated with hemorrhagic colitis. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 1985; **49:** 310-315.

- 170. Keepers TR, Psotka MA, Gross LK, *et al.* A murine model of HUS: Shiga toxin with lipopolysaccharide mimics the renal damage and physiologic response of human disease. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 2006; **17:** 3404-3414.
- 171. Petruzziello-Pellegrini TN, Yuen DA, Page AV, *et al.* The CXCR4/CXCR7/SDF-1 pathway contributes to the pathogenesis of Shiga toxin-associated hemolytic uremic syndrome in humans and mice. *J Clin Invest* 2012; **122**: 759-776.
- 172. Harel Y, Silva M, Giroir B, *et al.* A reporter transgene indicates renal-specific induction of tumor necrosis factor (TNF) by Shiga-like toxin. Possible involvement of TNF in hemolytic uremic syndrome. *J Clin Invest* 1993; **92:** 2110-2116.
- 173. Richardson SE, Rotman TA, Jay V, *et al.* Experimental Verocytotoxemia in rabbits. *Infect Immun* 1992; **60**: 4154-4167.
- 174. Fenwick B, Cowan L. *Canine model of hemolytic uremic syndrome*, 1 edn. American Society for Microbiology: Washington, DC, 1998.
- 175. Hertzke DM, Cowan LA, Schoning P, *et al.* Glomerular ultrastructural lesions of idiopathic cutaneous and renal glomerular vasculopathy of greyhounds. *Vet Pathol* 1995; **32:** 451-459.
- 176. Ge S, Hertel B, Emden SH, *et al.* Microparticle generation and leucocyte death in Shiga toxin-mediated HUS. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* 2012; **27:** 2768-2775.
- 177. Brigotti M, He X, Carnicelli D, *et al.* Particulate Shiga toxin 2 in blood is associated to the development of hemolytic uremic syndrome in children. *Thromb Haemost* 2020; **120:** 107-120.
- 178. Villysson A, Tontanahal A, Karpman D. Microvesicle involvement in Shiga toxinassociated infection. *Toxins* 2017; **9**.
- 179. J.M. Herring MAM, and S.A. Smith. Microparticles in Health and Disease. *J Vet Intern Med* 2013; **27:** 1020-1033.
- 180. Théry C, Witwer KW, Aikawa E, et al. Minimal information for studies of extracellular vesicles 2018 (MISEV2018): a position statement of the International Society for Extracellular Vesicles and update of the MISEV2014 guidelines. J Extracell Vesicles 2018; 7: 1535750.
- 181. Johnstone RM, Adam M, Hammond JR, *et al.* Vesicle formation during reticulocyte maturation. Association of plasma membrane activities with released vesicles (exosomes). *J Biol Chem* 1987; **262**: 9412-9420.
- 182. Hessvik NP, Llorente A. Current knowledge on exosome biogenesis and release. *Cell Mol Life Sci* 2018; **75:** 193-208.

- Simpson RJ, Jensen SS, Lim JW. Proteomic profiling of exosomes: current perspectives. *Proteomics* 2008; 8: 4083-4099.
- Montecalvo A, Larregina AT, Shufesky WJ, et al. Mechanism of transfer of functional microRNAs between mouse dendritic cells via exosomes. *Blood* 2012; 119: 756-766.
- Street JM, Birkhoff W, Menzies RI, et al. Exosomal transmission of functional aquaporin 2 in kidney cortical collecting duct cells. J Physiol 2011; 589: 6119-6127.
- Ratajczak J, Wysoczynski M, Hayek F, et al. Membrane-derived microvesicles: important and underappreciated mediators of cell-to-cell communication. *Leukemia* 2006; 20: 1487-1495.
- 187. Jimenez JJ, Jy W, Mauro LM, *et al.* Endothelial microparticles released in thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura express von Willebrand factor and markers of endothelial activation. *Br J Haematol* 2003; **123**: 896-902.
- 188. Camussi G, Deregibus MC, Bruno S, *et al.* Exosomes/microvesicles as a mechanism of cell-to-cell communication. *Kidney Int* 2010; **78**: 838-848.
- Barteneva NS, Maltsev N, Vorobjev IA. Microvesicles and intercellular communication in the context of parasitism. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol* 2013; 3: 49.
- 190. Karpman D, Ståhl AL, Arvidsson I. Extracellular vesicles in renal disease. *Nat Rev Nephrol* 2017; **13**: 545-562.
- 191. Elmore S. Apoptosis: a review of programmed cell death. *Toxicol Pathol* 2007; **35**: 495-516.
- 192. Kurosaka K, Takahashi M, Watanabe N, *et al.* Silent cleanup of very early apoptotic cells by macrophages. *J Immunol* 2003; **171**: 4672-4679.
- 193. Sinauridze EI, Kireev DA, Popenko NY, *et al.* Platelet microparticle membranes have 50- to 100-fold higher specific procoagulant activity than activated platelets. *Thromb Haemost* 2007; **97:** 425-434.
- 194. Zaborowski MP, Balaj L, Breakefield XO, et al. Extracellular vesicles: composition, biological relevance, and methods of study. *Bioscience* 2015; 65: 783-797.
- Pasquet JM, Dachary-Prigent J, Nurden AT. Calcium influx is a determining factor of calpain activation and microparticle formation in platelets. *Eur J Biochem* 1996; 239: 647-654.

- 196. Wehman AM, Poggioli C, Schweinsberg P, *et al.* The P4-ATPase TAT-5 inhibits the budding of extracellular vesicles in *C. elegans* embryos. *Curr Biol* 2011; **21**: 1951-1959.
- 197. Daleke DL. Regulation of transbilayer plasma membrane phospholipid asymmetry. *J Lipid Res* 2003; **44:** 233-242.
- 198. Nabhan JF, Hu R, Oh RS, *et al.* Formation and release of arrestin domaincontaining protein 1-mediated microvesicles (ARMMs) at plasma membrane by recruitment of TSG101 protein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 2012; **109:** 4146-4151.
- 199. Uribe-Querol E, Rosales C. Phagocytosis: our current understanding of a universal biological process. *Front Immunol* 2020; **11:** 1066.
- 200. Feng D, Zhao WL, Ye YY, *et al.* Cellular internalization of exosomes occurs through phagocytosis. *Traffic* 2010; **11:** 675-687.
- 201. Kerr MC, Teasdale RD. Defining macropinocytosis. *Traffic* 2009; **10**: 364-371.
- 202. Fitzner D, Schnaars M, van Rossum D, *et al.* Selective transfer of exosomes from oligodendrocytes to microglia by macropinocytosis. *J Cell Sci* 2011; **124**: 447-458.
- 203. Pearse BM. Clathrin: a unique protein associated with intracellular transfer of membrane by coated vesicles. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 1976; **73**: 1255-1259.
- 204. Costa Verdera H, Gitz-Francois JJ, Schiffelers RM, *et al.* Cellular uptake of extracellular vesicles is mediated by clathrin-independent endocytosis and macropinocytosis. *J Control Release* 2017; **266**: 100-108.
- 205. Wickner W, Schekman R. Membrane fusion. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* 2008; **15:** 658-664.
- Jahn R, Südhof TC. Membrane fusion and exocytosis. *Annu Rev Biochem* 1999; 68: 863-911.
- 207. Karpman D, Tontanahal A. Extracellular vesicles in renal inflammatory and infectious diseases. *Free Radic Biol Med* 2021.
- 208. Armstrong D, Wildman DE. Extracellular vesicles and the promise of continuous liquid biopsies. *J Pathol Transl Med* 2018; **52:** 1-8.
- 209. Valadi H, Ekstrom K, Bossios A, *et al.* Exosome-mediated transfer of mRNAs and microRNAs is a novel mechanism of genetic exchange between cells. *Nat Cell Biol* 2007; **9**: 654-659.

- 210. Del Conde I, Shrimpton CN, Thiagarajan P, *et al.* Tissue-factor-bearing microvesicles arise from lipid rafts and fuse with activated platelets to initiate coagulation. *Blood* 2005; **106**: 1604-1611.
- 211. Owens AP, Mackman N. Microparticles in hemostasis and thrombosis. *Circ Res* 2011; **108**: 1284-1297.
- 212. Lentz BR. Exposure of platelet membrane phosphatidylserine regulates blood coagulation. *Prog Lipid Res* 2003; **42:** 423-438.
- 213. Sims P, Faioni E, Wiedmer T, *et al.* Complement proteins C5b-9 cause release of membrane vesicles from the platelet surface that are enriched in the membrane receptor for coagulation factor Va and express prothrombinase activity. *J Biol Chem* 1988; **263**: 18205-18212.
- 214. Jy W, Jimenez JJ, Mauro LM, *et al.* Endothelial microparticles induce formation of platelet aggregates via a von Willebrand factor/ristocetin dependent pathway, rendering them resistant to dissociation. *J Thromb Haemost* 2005; **3:** 1301-1308.
- 215. Karpman D. Management of Shiga toxin-associated *Escherichia coli*-induced haemolytic uraemic syndrome: randomized clinical trials are needed. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* 2012; **27:** 3669-3674.
- 216. Mühlen S, Dersch P. Treatment strategies for infections with Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli. Front Cell Infect Microbiol* 2020; **10**: 169.
- Cheng LW, Henderson TD, Patfield S, *et al.* Mouse in vivo neutralization of *Escherichia coli* Shiga toxin 2 with monoclonal antibodies. *Toxins* 2013; 5: 1845-1858.
- 218. Mohawk KL, Melton-Celsa AR, Robinson CM, *et al.* Neutralizing antibodies to Shiga toxin type 2 (Stx2) reduce colonization of mice by Stx2-expressing *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. *Vaccine* 2010; **28:** 4777-4785.
- Huppertz HI, Rutkowski S, Busch DH, *et al.* Bovine colostrum ameliorates diarrhea in infection with diarrheagenic *Escherichia coli*, Shiga toxin-producing *E. coli*, and *E. coli* expressing intimin and hemolysin. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr* 1999; 29: 452-456.
- 220. Trachtman H, Cnaan A, Christen E, *et al.* Effect of an oral Shiga toxin-binding agent on diarrhea-associated hemolytic uremic syndrome in children: a randomized controlled trial. *JAMA* 2003; **290**: 1337-1344.
- 221. Mulvey GL, Marcato P, Kitov PI, *et al.* Assessment in mice of the therapeutic potential of tailored, multivalent Shiga toxin carbohydrate ligands. *J Infect Dis* 2003; **187:** 640-649.

- 222. Nishikawa K, Matsuoka K, Kita E, *et al.* A therapeutic agent with oriented carbohydrates for treatment of infections by Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 2002; **99:** 7669-7674.
- 223. Silberstein C, Lucero MS, Zotta E, *et al.* A glucosylceramide synthase inhibitor protects rats against the cytotoxic effects of Shiga toxin 2. *Pediatr Res* 2011; **69**: 390-394.
- 224. Sánchez DS, Fischer Sigel LK, Balestracci A, *et al.* Eliglustat prevents Shiga toxin 2 cytotoxic effects in human renal tubular epithelial cells. *Pediatr Res* 2021.
- 225. Lizarbe MA, Barrasa JI, Olmo N, *et al.* Annexin-phospholipid interactions. Functional implications. *Int J Mol Sci* 2013; **14**: 2652-2683.
- 226. Mirsaeidi M, Gidfar S, Vu A, *et al.* Annexins family: insights into their functions and potential role in pathogenesis of sarcoidosis. *J Transl Med* 2016; **14**: 89.
- 227. Konopka-Postupolska D, Clark G. Annexins as overlooked regulators of membrane trafficking in plant cells. *Int J Mol Sci* 2017; **18**: 863.
- 228. Lennon NJ, Kho A, Bacskai BJ, *et al.* Dysferlin interacts with annexins A1 and A2 and mediates sarcolemmal wound-healing. *J Biol Chem* 2003; **278:** 50466-50473.
- 229. Creutz C. The annexins and exocytosis. *Science* 1992; **258**: 924-931.
- 230. Futter CE, White IJ. Annexins and endocytosis. *Traffic* 2007; 8: 951-958.
- 231. Rogers MA, Buffolo F, Schlotter F, *et al.* Annexin A1-dependent tethering promotes extracellular vesicle aggregation revealed with single-extracellular vesicle analysis. *Sci Adv* 2020; **6**.
- Patel DM, Ahmad SF, Weiss DG, et al. Annexin A1 is a new functional linker between actin filaments and phagosomes during phagocytosis. J Cell Sci 2011; 124: 578-588.
- 233. Thiagarajan P, Benedict Claude R. Inhibition of arterial thrombosis by recombinant annexin V in a rabbit carotid artery injury model. *Circulation* 1997; **96**: 2339-2347.
- 234. Arnold P, Lu X, Amirahmadi F, *et al.* Recombinant human annexin A5 inhibits proinflammatory response and improves cardiac function and survival in mice with endotoxemia. *Crit Care Med* 2014; **42:** e32-41.
- 235. Boersma HH, Kietselaer BL, Stolk LM, *et al.* Past, present, and future of annexin A5: from protein discovery to clinical applications. *J Nucl Med* 2005; **46:** 2035-2050.

- 236. Giacomazzi A, Degan M, Calabria S, *et al.* Antiplatelet agents inhibit the generation of platelet-derived microparticles. *Front Pharmacol* 2016; 7.
- 237. Bouter A, Gounou C, Bérat R, *et al.* Annexin-A5 assembled into two-dimensional arrays promotes cell membrane repair. *Nat Commun* 2011; **2**: 270.
- 238. Park JH, Jang JH, Choi EJ, *et al.* Annexin A5 increases survival in murine sepsis model by inhibiting HMGB1-mediated pro-inflammation and coagulation. *Mol Med* 2016; **22:** 424-436.
- 239. Wei X, Liu C, Wang H, *et al.* Surface phosphatidylserine is responsible for the internalization on microvesicles derived from hypoxia-induced human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells into human endothelial cells. *PLoS One* 2016; **11**: e0147360.
- Schneider DJ, Speth JM, Penke LR, *et al.* Mechanisms and modulation of microvesicle uptake in a model of alveolar cell communication. *J Biol Chem* 2017; 292: 20897-20910.
- 241. Ralevic V, Burnstock G. Receptors for purines and pyrimidines. *Pharmacol Rev* 1998; **50:** 413-492.
- Fredholm BB, AP IJ, Jacobson KA, *et al.* International Union of Pharmacology. XXV. Nomenclature and classification of adenosine receptors. *Pharmacol Rev* 2001; **53**: 527-552.
- 243. von Kügelgen I, Hoffmann K. Pharmacology and structure of P2Y receptors. *Neuropharmacology* 2016; **104:** 50-61.
- 244. North RA, Surprenant A. Pharmacology of cloned P2X receptors. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol* 2000; **40**: 563-580.
- 245. Wang L, Ostberg O, Wihlborg AK, *et al.* Quantification of ADP and ATP receptor expression in human platelets. *J Thromb Haemost* 2003; **1**: 330-336.
- 246. Burnstock G. Pathophysiology and therapeutic potential of purinergic signaling. *Pharmacol Rev* 2006; **58:** 58-86.
- Abbracchio MP, Burnstock G. Purinergic signalling: pathophysiological roles. J Pharmacol 1998; 78: 113-145.
- 248. Di Virgilio F, Dal Ben D, Sarti AC, et al. The P2X7 receptor in infection and inflammation. *Immunity* 2017; **47:** 15-31.
- 249. Bianco F, Perrotta C, Novellino L, *et al.* Acid sphingomyelinase activity triggers microparticle release from glial cells. *EMBO J* 2009; **28**: 1043-1054.

- 250. Pizzirani C, Ferrari D, Chiozzi P, *et al.* Stimulation of P2 receptors causes release of IL-1beta-loaded microvesicles from human dendritic cells. *Blood* 2007; **109**: 3856-3864.
- 251. Turola E, Furlan R, Bianco F, et al. Microglial microvesicle secretion and intercellular signaling. Front Physiol 2012; **3:** 149.
- 252. Bianco F, Pravettoni E, Colombo A, *et al.* Astrocyte-derived ATP induces vesicle shedding and IL-1 beta release from microglia. *J Immunol* 2005; **174:** 7268-7277.
- 253. Munksgaard PS, Vorup-Jensen T, Reinholdt J, et al. Leukotoxin from *Aggregatibacter actinomycetemcomitans* causes shrinkage and P2X receptordependent lysis of human erythrocytes. *Cell Microbiol* 2012; **14**: 1904-1920.
- 254. Hejl JL, Skals M, Leipziger J, et al. P2X receptor stimulation amplifies complement-induced haemolysis. *Pflugers Arch* 2013; **465**: 529-541.
- 255. Mahaut-Smith MP, Jones S, Evans RJ. The P2X1 receptor and platelet function. *Purinergic Signal* 2011; **7:** 341-356.
- 256. Taylor KA, Wright JR, Vial C, *et al.* Amplification of human platelet activation by surface pannexin-1 channels. *J Thromb Haemost* 2014; **12:** 987-998.
- 257. Fung CY, Jones S, Ntrakwah A, *et al.* Platelet Ca(2+) responses coupled to glycoprotein VI and Toll-like receptors persist in the presence of endothelialderived inhibitors: roles for secondary activation of P2X1 receptors and release from intracellular Ca(2+) stores. *Blood* 2012; **119**: 3613-3621.
- 258. Hechler B, Lenain N, Marchese P, *et al.* A role of the fast ATP-gated P2X1 cation channel in thrombosis of small arteries in vivo. *J Exp Med* 2003; **198**: 661-667.
- 259. Mempin R, Tran H, Chen C, *et al.* Release of extracellular ATP by bacteria during growth. *BMC Microbiol* 2013; **13**: 301.
- 260. Atarashi K, Nishimura J, Shima T, *et al.* ATP drives lamina propria T(H)17 cell differentiation. *Nature* 2008; **455**: 808-812.
- Proietti M, Perruzza L, Scribano D, *et al.* ATP released by intestinal bacteria limits the generation of protective IgA against enteropathogens. *Nat Commun* 2019; 10: 250.
- 262. Chen Y, Corriden R, Inoue Y, *et al.* ATP release guides neutrophil chemotaxis via P2Y2 and A3 receptors. *Science* 2006; **314:** 1792-1795.
- 263. Chen K, Zhang J, Zhang W, *et al.* ATP-P2X4 signaling mediates NLRP3 inflammasome activation: a novel pathway of diabetic nephropathy. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* 2013; **45**: 932-943.

- Soslau G, Youngprapakorn D. A possible dual physiological role of extracellular ATP in the modulation of platelet aggregation. *Biochimica et biophysica acta* 1997; 1355: 131-140.
- 265. Johansson KE, Ståhl AL, Arvidsson I, *et al.* Shiga toxin signals via ATP and its effect is blocked by purinergic receptor antagonism. *Sci Rep* 2019; **9:** 14362.
- 266. Allard B, Longhi MS, Robson SC, *et al.* The ectonucleotidases CD39 and CD73: Novel checkpoint inhibitor targets. *Immunol Rev* 2017; **276:** 121-144.
- 267. Handa M, Guidotti G. Purification and cloning of a soluble ATPdiphosphohydrolase (apyrase) from potato tubers (*Solanum tuberosum*). *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 1996; **218**: 916-923.
- 268. Bitzan M, Poole R, Mehran M, *et al.* Safety and pharmacokinetics of chimeric anti-Shiga toxin 1 and anti-Shiga toxin 2 monoclonal antibodies in healthy volunteers. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2009; **53**: 3081-3087.
- Amaral JA, De Franco MT, Zapata-Quintanilla L, *et al.* In vitro reactivity and growth inhibition of EPEC serotype O111 and STEC serotypes O111 and O157 by homologous and heterologous chicken egg yolk antibody. *Vet Res Commun* 2008; 32: 281-290.
- 270. Funatogawa K, Ide T, Kirikae F, *et al.* Use of immunoglobulin enriched bovine colostrum against oral challenge with enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in mice. *Microbiol Immunol* 2002; **46**: 761-766.
- 271. Ewing MM, de Vries MR, Nordzell M, *et al.* Annexin A5 therapy attenuates vascular inflammation and remodeling and improves endothelial function in mice. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 2011; **31:** 95-101.
- Singh Grewal A, Pandita D, Bhardwaj S, *et al.* Recent updates on development of drug molecules for human African Trypanosomiasis. *Curr Top Med Chem* 2016; 16: 2245-2265.
- 273. Cauwels A, Rogge E, Vandendriessche B, *et al.* Extracellular ATP drives systemic inflammation, tissue damage and mortality. *Cell Death Dis* 2014; **5:** e1102.
- 274. Bayliss J, Delarosa S, Wu J, *et al.* Adenosine triphosphate hydrolysis reduces neutrophil infiltration and necrosis in partial-thickness scald burns in mice. *J Burn Care Res* 2014; **35:** 54-61.
- 275. Bayliss JM, Levi B, Wu J, *et al.* Apyrase elicits host antimicrobial responses and resolves infection in burns. *J Burn Care Res* 2016; **37:** e501-e507.
- 276. Porubsky S, Federico G, Muthing J, *et al.* Direct acute tubular damage contributes to Shiga toxin-mediated kidney failure. *J Pathol* 2014; **234:** 120-133.

- 277. Holloway S, Senior D, Roth L, *et al.* Hemolytic uremic syndrome in dogs. *J Vet Intern Med* 1993; **7:** 220-227.
- 278. Mohawk KL, O'Brien AD. Mouse models of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 infection and Shiga toxin injection. *J Biomed Biotechnol* 2011; **2011**: 258185.
- 279. Obata F, Tohyama K, Bonev AD, *et al.* Shiga toxin 2 affects the central nervous system through receptor globotriaosylceramide localized to neurons. *J Infect Dis* 2008; **198**: 1398-1406.
- 280. Robinson CM, Sinclair JF, Smith MJ, *et al.* Shiga toxin of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* type O157:H7 promotes intestinal colonization. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 2006; **103**: 9667-9672.
- 281. Zumbrun SD, Melton-Celsa AR, Smith MA, et al. Dietary choice affects Shiga toxin-producing Escherichia coli (STEC) O157:H7 colonization and disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2013; 110: E2126-2133.
- 282. Mukhopadhyay S, Linstedt AD. Manganese blocks intracellular trafficking of Shiga toxin and protects against Shiga toxicosis. *Science* 2012; **335**: 332-335.
- 283. Stechmann B, Bai SK, Gobbo E, *et al.* Inhibition of retrograde transport protects mice from lethal ricin challenge. *Cell* 2010; **141**: 231-242.
- 284. Secher T, Shima A, Hinsinger K, *et al.* Retrograde trafficking inhibitor of Shiga toxins reduces morbidity and mortality of mice infected with enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli. Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2015; **59:** 5010-5013.
- 285. Jacewicz M, Clausen H, Nudelman E, et al. Pathogenesis of shigella diarrhea. XI. Isolation of a shigella toxin-binding glycolipid from rabbit jejunum and HeLa cells and its identification as globotriaosylceramide. J Exp Med 1986; 163: 1391-1404.